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P R O C E E D I N G S 1 

------------------------------------------------------ 2 

  CHAIRMAN: 3 

  We're starting this meeting about 25 4 

minutes later than we anticipated, but it took us all 5 

a little longer to get here than originally planned.  6 

I'm Representative Mike Hanna, and I have the honor of 7 

chairing the House Ag and Rural Affairs Committee.  8 

We're happy to be here today.  We're particularly 9 

excited about gathering some additional information 10 

about Representative Kessler's bill, House Bill 2347. 11 

We welcome all of you.  We look forward to hearing 12 

your input, and I'm going to start on my right and 13 

have everybody at the head table introduce themselves 14 

if they will.  Alycia? 15 

  MS. LAURETI: 16 

  Alycia Laureti, research analyst for 17 

Representative Mike Hanna. 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE GRUCELA: 19 

  I'm Representative Rich Grucela from 20 

Northampton County. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 22 

  Representative Dan Moul, Adams and 23 

Franklin. 24 

  MS. GOLDEN: 25 
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  Kerry Golden, Minority Executive Director 1 

of the House Agriculture Committee. 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE KELLER: 3 

  Good afternoon.  Mark Keller of the 86th 4 

District, which is Perry and Franklin County, and 5 

we're proud of it. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 7 

  Good afternoon.  Gordon Denlinger 8 

representing eastern Lancaster County, the 99th 9 

District. 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 11 

  Dave Kessler, southern Berks, including 12 

Oley Township. 13 

  MS. HAIN: 14 

  Diane Hain, the Executive Director of the 15 

Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee. 16 

  REPRESENTATIVE COX: 17 

  Jim Cox, western Berks County, 129th 18 

District. 19 

  CHAIRMAN: 20 

  All right.  With those introductions, I'm 21 

going to turn it over to Representative Kessler for an 22 

opportunity to make some opening comments.  Dave? 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 24 

  Thank you.  First of all, thank you 25 
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committee members and thank you, Chairman Hanna, for 1 

having this hearing here in Oley. 2 

  In the last ten months, I've been 3 

educating myself by visiting with Rodale Institute as 4 

well as visiting farmers throughout Pennsylvania that 5 

have gone from conventional to organic.  The objective 6 

of my bill is twofold.  One to make farming more 7 

profitable and secondly to help with the environment. 8 

  There are other states throughout the 9 

country that have actually set aside money to help the 10 

farmer throughout the transition period from 11 

conventional to organic, Minnesota, Wisconsin, Vermont 12 

and other states.  Minnesota has taken the most 13 

aggressive approach, and I have modeled my bill after 14 

the Minnesota legislation. 15 

  Essentially what my legislation does it 16 

helps the farmer through the transition period where 17 

in the first two to four years, as you go organic you 18 

may see a drop in yields.  What this bill would do 19 

would help subsidize the farmer through that 20 

transition period and reimburse them for any drop in 21 

yields.  And once you get the organic matter back into 22 

the soils after that two, three year, four year 23 

period, the yields can be the same if not better.  It 24 

also offers grants for pieces of equipment that would 25 
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be able to be used in organic such as the 1 

crimper/roller, which Rodale Institute will be talking 2 

about. 3 

  And I want to thank the Rodale Institute 4 

for educating me, as well as Joe Fisher and Bucky 5 

Ziegler, Forrest Stricker and Bill Mason who will be 6 

testifying later on that have gone from conventional 7 

to organic.  And thank you for your help in educating 8 

me in this field as well. 9 

  CHAIRMAN: 10 

  Well, thank you, Dave, for that 11 

introduction to the legislation.  I did miss one 12 

introduction that I want to make.  We have former 13 

Representative Sheila Miller and Sheila --- I think, 14 

Sheila, you joined the House the same time I did back 15 

in 1990; is that right? 16 

  MS. MILLER: 17 

  '92. 18 

  CHAIRMAN: 19 

  '92.  Okay.  Well, welcome back.  We're 20 

glad to have you here.  With that, let's begin our 21 

testimony with Timothy LaSalle from The Rodale 22 

Institute along with Jeff Moyer.  Gentlemen? 23 

  DR. LASALLE: 24 

  Thank you, Chairman Hanna and the Ag 25 
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Committee.  We're pleased to have an opportunity to 1 

visit with you.  My name is Tim LaSalle.  I'm the CEO 2 

at The Rodale Institute. 3 

  When Representative Kessler came with an 4 

inquiry about the impact of what organic farming means 5 

both for profitability and the environment, we were 6 

pleased to spend some time with him.  And he and his 7 

staff I think have done a marvelous job in their own 8 

research about its implications. 9 

  To begin with, we'd like to suggest that 10 

one of the things The Rodale Institute, which truly is 11 

a treasure here in Pennsylvania, has brought forward 12 

is an understanding that focusing on regenerative 13 

agriculture, that takes the synthetic chemicals and 14 

fertilizers out of the system gives the opportunity 15 

for soil and soil biology to be fed and restore soil 16 

and purify water.   17 

  So the advantages that these systems have 18 

in the long term for the ecology and the environment 19 

of Pennsylvania are rather significant particularly 20 

when we're talking about issues around the Chesapeake 21 

Bay with its nitrate and phosphate pollution, other 22 

water stream systems that organic or natural 23 

regenerative farming can accomplish. 24 

  What I think is powerful for me and one 25 
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of the reasons I relocated from the West Coast to here 1 

to work with Rodale is organic and regenerative 2 

agriculture can sequester carbon at such levels that 3 

has not yet been recognized for our global climate 4 

concerns.   5 

  We literally, through the research of 6 

Rodale have in-the-can data that clarifies that we can 7 

take 7,000 pounds of carbon dioxide out of the 8 

atmosphere every year and put it back into the soil.  9 

And this is not possible with conventional or 10 

traditional agriculture, an industry that I have come 11 

out of historically.  What this does is really equates 12 

to about an automobile per acre per year.  And so it 13 

begins to mitigate climate change effects by simply 14 

changing the ways we farm. 15 

  I think that the Representative also in 16 

his concern for farmers in Pennsylvania says how do we 17 

make farming more profitable.  And with the price 18 

advantages with organic today, a bill that helps 19 

farmers transition to that gives them a leg up.  And I 20 

think that a few other states have lead the way, as 21 

Representative Kessler mentioned in Minnesota, that I 22 

think gives us a good model to take a look at here in 23 

Pennsylvania in helping these farmers become not just 24 

more environmentally sensitive and become even better 25 
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stewards of the land, but actually increase their 1 

profitability as they make this transition and are 2 

receiving the rewards for having organic products. 3 

  I want to mention that organics as an 4 

industry from a consumer standpoint is growing at 20 5 

percent annually, and it's not declining.  6 

Unfortunately, land that's being converted to organics 7 

is only moving at about three percent.  So this bill 8 

would help our farmers catch up with the consumer 9 

demand and literally give them that reward in the 10 

process. 11 

  So as Representative Kessler mentioned, 12 

oftentimes farmers, as they learn this transition 13 

phase away from chemical-based agriculture to organic 14 

or regenerative, they may lose some production.  It 15 

depends on the condition of their land.  It depends on 16 

their capacity to adapt to the technology, and it 17 

depends in essence about their experience with this 18 

process.  So there is a three-year transition phase 19 

that's needed to move to certified organic.  What this 20 

bill helps do is it helps support that farmer make 21 

that transition, carry them through the process and 22 

then they should be much more economically viable than 23 

they were before.   24 

  So it looks like an exciting opportunity 25 
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as Pennsylvania now would get to step forward as one 1 

of the leading states in the nation understanding the 2 

ecological benefits that farmers would bring to the 3 

whole community, as well as helping the farmer become 4 

more profitable in the long run.   5 

  So with that, we're very excited that 6 

this bill is before the representatives now to 7 

consider and to think in terms of how we invest both 8 

in our environment and in our farmers here in 9 

Pennsylvania. 10 

  With that, I would like to offer the 11 

microphone to Jeff Moyer, who is our Director of 12 

Farming Operations, who was one of the co-creators and 13 

inventors of a technology and a technique that helps 14 

get the nitrogen into the soil in a very natural way 15 

and have it in a much more bio-available way over the 16 

course of the crop’s life.  Jeff? 17 

  MR. MOYER: 18 

  Thank you, Tim.  My name is Jeff Moyer, 19 

and I'm the Farm Director for The Rodale Institute. 20 

  To follow up on what Dr. LaSalle was just 21 

saying, I think that while we have been doing a lot of 22 

basic research at The Rodale Institute for many years 23 

looking at the science that's behind a lot of the 24 

techniques that we're talking about as we encourage 25 
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farmers to transition from a conventional farming 1 

system to organic, we've also been developing a lot of 2 

applied research type tools, and Tim alluded to that 3 

when he talked about our roller/crimper technology. 4 

  We get farmers practically daily, but 5 

it's at least several times a week I get phone calls 6 

from farmers that are interested in considering 7 

transitioning from a conventional system to an organic 8 

system.  And as they look at that --- that transition 9 

process, they're concerned about what's going to 10 

happen certainly to their income, to them as farmers, 11 

to the land.  And we have been working very hard on 12 

developing some tools that will help them in the 13 

transition process. 14 

  But that's only part of the story because 15 

they also need help from you folks as a partnership 16 

with what we're doing so that we can incentivize 17 

farmers to do what they want to do, but what we as 18 

environmentalists know is proper to do.   19 

  As Tim said, we know we can clean up and 20 

purify water coming out of our farms.  We can prevent 21 

chemicals from polluting the ground water.  We can 22 

keep nitrogen out of our ground water.  We can keep 23 

phosphorus out of our streams with the technologies 24 

that we're developing.  But until we incentivize 25 
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farmers to move in that direction, there's barriers, 1 

or roadblocks that they see facing them. Some of them 2 

are practical.  As we mentioned, we're trying to 3 

overcome those things like our roller/crimper 4 

technology and there's several farmers, I think, that 5 

are going to talk about that later on here this 6 

afternoon, how they've incorporated that into their 7 

farm plan very successfully. 8 

  We've also come up with some transition 9 

tools that are teaching tools so that we can help 10 

farmers learn the basic concepts that they're going to 11 

have to apply on their farm.  And so we have those 12 

tools available.  But even at that level, many fence 13 

sitters need that extra little incentive to know that 14 

they're protected in terms of their income as they go 15 

through this transition process and try to do what's 16 

right to produce the healthy quality food that we all 17 

want.  18 

  We know that the marketplace is there.  19 

The demand is very high.  And as Tim said, we're 20 

growing at a rate of 20 percent a year in the 21 

marketplace, but only three percent in terms of land 22 

transition.  I believe Pennsylvania may be a little 23 

bit higher than that than that three percent, but it's 24 

still very low.  Consequently, we're importing organic 25 
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food into the State of Pennsylvania.  So we have 1 

processors who are producing food products.  We have 2 

farmers who are raising animals that need feed stocks. 3 

They're not getting those here.  They're actually 4 

coming from overseas, and that's kind of sad when we 5 

know what's happening to the Chesapeake Bay and many 6 

of the land areas that we're trying to clean up.  And 7 

we have the tools that can do that.  We just need to 8 

get farmers to move in that direction.   9 

  So I think if we can do within this bill, 10 

it should help farmers who want to make that 11 

transition step up and be able to do that more 12 

comfortably, I think everybody wins.  The state wins. 13 

The farmers win.  The environment wins.  Everybody 14 

wins. 15 

  DR. LASALLE: 16 

  Any questions?  Yes? 17 

  CHAIRMAN: 18 

  If I could start with a question.  I 19 

would appreciate if you guys could outline a little 20 

bit for us the certification process.  Who does that 21 

certification?  How long does it take and how does 22 

that impact on the farmer's transition? 23 

  DR. LASALLE: 24 

  Well, I'm going to pass that to Jeff for 25 
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two reasons.  One, he has more experience, in that he 1 

sits on the National Organic Standards Board.  So he 2 

helps set up some of those laws and rules.  So Jeff? 3 

  MR. MOYER: 4 

  Thank you.  Yeah.  Mr. Chairperson, I 5 

think there's some experts behind me too who sit on 6 

some certification panels here in Pennsylvania that'd 7 

be happy to correct me when I make mistakes, I'm sure. 8 

It is a three-year process for land.  To transition 9 

land from a conventional farming system into an 10 

organic system it takes three years.  So that's three 11 

years from the last time a prohibited material was 12 

applied to the land.  So if you were producing hay, 13 

for example, we can grow hay on our farm without any 14 

chemicals very easily.  So there are tools that we 15 

have that farmers can put in place to minimize the 16 

impact of that transition process.   17 

  We would never suggest that farmers 18 

transition their whole farm at once.  You could do it 19 

field by field, crop by crop.  And you move through a 20 

sort of steady process.  The first step would be to 21 

try to match up your needs with that of a certifier.  22 

There's 95 certifiers around the country that can 23 

certify individual farms.  We have here in 24 

Pennsylvania, Pennsylvania Certified Organic, and I 25 
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know there's some members from that group here in the 1 

room today who can talk specifically about what they 2 

do.  Try to match up your farm with a certifier that 3 

suits your needs and then begin to walk through that 4 

process.  But there are certain rules that are set up 5 

by the USDA that specifically dictate what organic is 6 

and what it isn't, and you must follow those rules.  7 

Did that answer your question? 8 

  CHAIRMAN: 9 

  That answered my question.  And it's been 10 

pointed out to me that Leslie will be up next, and she 11 

can --- she can provide us with a lot more information 12 

on that stuff. 13 

  MR. MOYER: 14 

  I'm sure she will. 15 

  CHAIRMAN: 16 

  That's my question.  Dave, do you have a 17 

question? 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 19 

  No. 20 

  CHAIRMAN: 21 

  Any other questions on the right? 22 

  REPRESENTATIVE GRUCELA: 23 

  Mike, just one.  When you say --- is it 24 

the third year or is it three years and then it's the 25 
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fourth year? 1 

  MR. MOYER: 2 

  It's 36 months from when you've harvested 3 

a crop.  If you had corn last year, you would have to 4 

have three years of that corn.  Then in the fourth 5 

year you're selling --- you're planting it, but then 6 

you're harvesting that crop and selling it as organic, 7 

yeah. 8 

  REPRESENTATIVE GRUCELA: 9 

  Thank you. 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 11 

  Question on the longer term --- and I 12 

realize we're talking about for the transition today, 13 

so maybe this is a little removed from that.  But I'm 14 

wondering about the longer term impact of pests and 15 

insects and so forth.  For folks who have converted to 16 

the organic and are into that now for some period of 17 

time, you know, historically in agriculture there were 18 

battles against all kinds of infestations and crop 19 

failures that resulted from it.  What is the organic 20 

answer to infestation in the long term? 21 

  DR. LASALLE: 22 

  Jeff may have a further comment on this, 23 

but I'd like to mention when I first came to Rodale a 24 

little over nine months ago one of my first questions 25 
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was where is your entomologist on staff, and they kind 1 

of looked at me like well, that's not really the 2 

issue.  And I've come to learn that because of the 3 

crop rotation and the smaller fields, pest problems 4 

are not the major issues.  It's weeds.  And that's 5 

where the roller/crimper that Jeff has helped design 6 

really comes in to suppress weeds without chemicals. 7 

  So pests can typically be managed through 8 

proper rotation.  And what we find is that it's the 9 

monocultures and the mono-cropping that gives this 10 

large, not only target, it often doesn't break the 11 

cycle, the pest cycle.  When you have more 12 

biodiversity around in your farm, you also have more 13 

beneficial insects which greatly reduce pest 14 

pressures.  So in essence, weeds typically are a 15 

conversation, not so much insects.   16 

  What we also find in today's conventional 17 

agriculture that I have a history in.  Most of my life 18 

was in that.  You find that you keep using more and 19 

more pesticides.  And then not only that, you have to 20 

keep changing because pests build resistance.  And 21 

that's another strong rational for why we need to be 22 

moving to a system where nature wants to defend 23 

against it.   24 

  Jeff, do you have a comment on that as 25 
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well? 1 

  MR. MOYER: 2 

  I think you covered it. 3 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 4 

  Very good.  Thank you. 5 

  DR. LASALLE: 6 

  You're welcome. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE COX: 8 

  Maybe I missed it.  I'm looking at 9 

potential costs here and maybe you're not the best one 10 

to answer that.  What are we talking as far as the 11 

cost to the farmer, cost under the program?  I know 12 

there are some incentive programs built in here.  13 

Outside the window of this transition, is there an 14 

ongoing cost?  I know that the equipment obviously is 15 

going to have a cost any time he's going to have to 16 

replace it or upgrade equipment or things like that. 17 

What can the farmer expect in the out years after this 18 

transition period because we can do something now that 19 

has a great start to it, but unless we know what the 20 

out years hold for us, we may not be making a smart 21 

decision.  So I want to --- I want to get an 22 

understanding of what a farmer could expect as he goes 23 

down the road. 24 

  DR. LASALLE: 25 
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  I have a response to that, but I'm going 1 

to let our farmer respond to that.  So Jeff, please. 2 

  MR. MOYER: 3 

  Well, and I think that question would be 4 

a very relevant question to the farmers who are going 5 

to follow behind us.  What we have seen traditionally 6 

as farmers transition, there is this --- sometimes a 7 

loss of yield initially.  Certainly, there's a 8 

learning curve as farmers pick up new technology and 9 

new tools.  They may be cultivating for weed 10 

management instead of spraying herbicide.  So there's 11 

new techniques and tools that they're going to have to 12 

learn how to use. 13 

  Once they transition, both the farm and 14 

themselves as farmers from where they are to an 15 

organic system, we've seen the costs actually decrease 16 

particularly on grain farms which is where I'm more 17 

familiar.  Our costs are less than that on a 18 

conventional farm because we've internalized our input 19 

needs instead of externalizing them.  If what you're 20 

looking at doing is --- and many farmers start out at 21 

this point where they say, okay, I can no longer use 22 

fertilizer X, so I want to purchase fertilizer Y.  If 23 

your goal is to go out and buy nitrogen fertilizer, 24 

for example, as a certified organic product as opposed 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

20

to a conventional product, the cost is higher.  But 1 

what farmers learn as they transition that they can 2 

use cover crops to grow their own nitrogen.  We don't 3 

buy nitrogen on our farm.  Our farm's 330 acres.  4 

Except for a little manure that we use in some 5 

research that we turn into compost, we haven't bought 6 

any fertilizer in the 32 years I've been there, 7 

nitrogen fertilizer. We grow all our own.  We can take 8 

it out of the air. 9 

  So you learn how to manage those inputs 10 

and the costs go down.  And therefore, your profit 11 

goes up.  So the long term --- on the long-term side 12 

of things, it's more profitable for the farmers, more 13 

profitable for the community, the State of 14 

Pennsylvania.  In the short term, there is this window 15 

when we feel that farmers need some support to help 16 

incentivize them to get over that hump and get 17 

started. 18 

  DR. LASALLE: 19 

  I would like to comment.  Something Jeff 20 

said stimulated this thought, and that is if we look 21 

at the price of nitrogen fertilizer today, it 22 

continues to increase.  And as the price of oil goes 23 

higher, it will continue to grow.  Additionally, if 24 

you look at input costs that conventional farmers use, 25 
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like Round-up to suppress weeds, that cost has 1 

skyrocketed because of international demand.  What 2 

we're doing is we're pulling farmers --- helping pull 3 

farmers away from those costs that they're not in 4 

control of, and Jeff said, producing their own 5 

nitrogen really just with the seed of hairy vetch. 6 

  So it really is going to put them in a 7 

much better position after this transition, and as we 8 

see costs of oil increase, they will be better 9 

situated to maintain a stronger agricultural community 10 

here in Pennsylvania. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE COX: 12 

  Thank you. 13 

  CHAIRMAN: 14 

  Just so I'm not missing anything, during 15 

that three-year transition period they're not losing 16 

those crops.  They're just simply not able to sell 17 

them as certified organic crops? 18 

  DR. LASALLE: 19 

  That's correct. 20 

  CHAIRMAN: 21 

  So that's what gets to the real wisdom of 22 

Representative Kessler's bill that it's during that 23 

transition period where you're still selling your 24 

crops at conventional prices and not getting the 25 
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benefit of the organic label, if you will, but your 1 

costs have gone up, but only during the transition 2 

period while you're adjusting to the new form of 3 

farming. 4 

  DR. LASALLE: 5 

  Yes.  You actually are learning the 6 

transition.  You're trying to gain a skill set and 7 

adapt to the equipment change and you're still 8 

producing the crop.  It's just you're getting 9 

conventional prices, not the benefit of organic 10 

prices, which can be at least twice as much in some 11 

cases. 12 

  CHAIRMAN: 13 

  Thank you.  Dave, this is a brilliant 14 

idea.  Do we have any other questions for The Rodale 15 

Institute folks?  Mark? 16 

  REPRESENTATIVE KELLER: 17 

  Yes.  Thank you very much for your 18 

testimony.  You've alluded to the fact that you don't 19 

buy fertilizer.  I don't believe there's a farmer 20 

sitting in the United State of America who would not 21 

love to not have to buy fertilizer.  But you've also 22 

said that you've done it by not the purchase of 23 

fertilizer, but by planting other crops.  What about 24 

the cost of the seeds, and what type of crops are you 25 
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rotating with in the fact of --- okay, there's a cost 1 

incurred there.  Now, I would assume that that cost is 2 

not anything compared to what fertilizer costs, 3 

especially in today's market because I do know what 4 

the costs are right now with fuel prices and 5 

everything has gone up.  So you know, I kind of need 6 

to here that side of it too because, you know, you're 7 

kind of alluding to the fact oh, you don't have 8 

fertilizer costs, but there are other costs incurred 9 

here that I think everyone needs to hear. 10 

  MR. MOYER: 11 

  I think that's a very good point.  And I 12 

want to clarify my statement.  We do buy some 13 

fertilizer, particularly potassium.  We don't need any 14 

phosphorus on our farm generally, but we do buy some 15 

potassium.  But we've never bought nitrogen 16 

fertilizer, so I want to make that distinction.   17 

  Also, you're absolutely correct.  You 18 

don't get anything in this world for free.  And you're 19 

shifting your costs away from the cost of buying 20 

fertilizer, in our case, into buying legume seed.  21 

Legume seed is something that you can have more 22 

control of because you can grow your own.  For hairy 23 

vetch, for example, which is a crop we plant on our 24 

farm, we can save our own seed.  So we can keep a 25 
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small section of the farm that we just grab that seed 1 

and we can use that.  So that the costs --- we have 2 

some control over how that costs is spread out across 3 

our farm.   4 

  It's also a different way of looking at 5 

how you're applying fertilizer because you get much 6 

more than just nitrogen when you grow cover crops.  7 

You get protection from soil erosion.  You get 8 

microbial buildup in the soil.  You build up the 9 

organic matter in your soil.  You're sequestering more 10 

carbon, which are all things that we could talk about, 11 

the benefits of organic agriculture.  You get all of 12 

that from cover crops, so it's so much different than 13 

just buying nitrogen fertilizer in a bag.  But you're 14 

absolutely correct.  There are costs to farming, 15 

whether you're farming organically or conventional.  16 

It's not all just watching the money flow in and 17 

nothing goes out.  You're correct. 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE KELLER: 19 

  I guess what I'm trying to get at here is 20 

I don't believe there's anybody in this audience that 21 

doesn't look at your bottom line.  What am I going to 22 

make out of this?  Am I going to realize a profit or 23 

am I not, you know?  And is it going to cost me more 24 

to realize that profit or is my profit margin going to 25 
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be smaller or greater by going by this, you know, by 1 

organic farming?  I think, you know, we need to hear  2 

--- you know, granted I know the aspect of walking 3 

into the store and your organic products are a higher 4 

price, and I understand that, you know.  But when it 5 

all comes down, it could be a higher price, but it 6 

could be a higher price that it costs to produce that. 7 

So in the end, the bottom line is a big profit? Little 8 

profit?  No profit?   9 

  DR. LASALLE: 10 

  We've had economists take a look 11 

particularly at our farm and in our experimental plots 12 

where we contrast conventional farm corn and soybeans 13 

with organic corn and soybeans.  And in those economic 14 

analyses, there's a huge difference between organic 15 

and the conventional.  One of the things that we 16 

should mention, as Jeff mentioned, is typically your 17 

input costs are lower.  Actually, there's always lower 18 

because the price of that seed is much less than 19 

nitrogen fertilizer today to fix your nitrogen.  But 20 

secondarily, the price of the organic commodities have 21 

been much higher, in some cases three times higher, 22 

but typically they're at least twice as high as 23 

conventional.  So you have a lower cost going into the 24 

crop and much higher income coming back when you sell 25 
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your crop.  So this creates more margin for the 1 

farmer, and in essence, it's a great investment in 2 

current market conditions.  It's a very, very logical 3 

run.   4 

  I think what the Representative's bill is 5 

helping farmers with is to encourage (sic) their 6 

nervousness about making this change in their cultural 7 

practices that they're not as comfortable with because 8 

they haven't done it before.  So it really gives them 9 

a cushion as they're learning the process.  And if 10 

their crop production declines, they have this buffer. 11 

So it helps them cross that bridge and get to the 12 

other side where their profits will certainly 13 

increase. 14 

  I also want to mention that part of the 15 

benefit of the cover crops and putting the organic 16 

matter back in, which Representative Dwight Evans has 17 

been kind of interested in from an appropriations 18 

standpoint for the State of Pennsylvania, is is that 19 

organically grown crops that have a lot of organic 20 

matter in the soil have a drought resistance.  So in 21 

drought years or in very wet years, our organic crops 22 

greatly outperform our conventional crops, and it's 23 

because the soil structure's in better shape.  The 24 

moisture's held there and it's brought by the fungi to 25 
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the root of the plant.  So we can actually get a crop 1 

where sometimes you'll have crop failure where the 2 

synthetic fertilizers have been used. 3 

  MR. MOYER: 4 

  To add to that, I think there's also --- 5 

when you look at the size of farms, there's different 6 

management that takes place in an organic farm, 7 

particularly like in weed management.  And that's 8 

something that we were talking about here.  If you're 9 

going to be cultivating to manage weeds, it's a lot 10 

different than spreading a herbicide.  You can't go 11 

out and have a custom applicator put that on for you. 12 

You're going to be spending some of your time on the 13 

farm.  So you're trading that time and that labor for 14 

outside expenditures.   15 

  And as Tim mentioned, when we look at --- 16 

through economists' eyes, when we look at those 17 

numbers, what we're seeing is that for the most part 18 

we could sell --- once we're certified organic and 19 

gone through the process and our yields have 20 

stabilized, we can sell our products for about --- we 21 

need about a six percent shift in price to become 22 

profitable on grain crops.  And that's looking at the 23 

whole rotation.  Again, you're not going to put your 24 

whole farm in corn.  You're going to be growing a 25 
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series of rotated crops. 1 

  Soybeans, our yield in our research has 2 

shown that we have not dropped at all in our yield in 3 

soybeans when we transitioned cold turkey and went 4 

immediately into soybeans because soybeans are a 5 

legume, and they didn't suffer.  Corn suffered.  And 6 

so we have some good guidance for farmers that want to 7 

transition and how to take those steps and what to do.  8 

  But organic soybeans right now are 9 

selling for --- I just sold a trailer load about a 10 

month and a half ago for $24 a bushel and that's not 11 

uncommon.  I think they're higher than that now.  Our 12 

cost of production at this point in time is roughly 13 

equal to if not slightly less than conventional.  So I 14 

think, you know, you have to look at all of that, and 15 

I think your margins are much greater. 16 

  Once you get up over a thousand acres, as 17 

our economists tell us, things start to shift because 18 

then you're going to be buying some more labor into 19 

the farm.  And you really have to look more closely as 20 

you're buying labor because it is a more --- it's not 21 

necessarily more labor, but your labor's divided 22 

differently across the year more uniformly across the 23 

whole growing season.  It's not just all in the spring 24 

or all in the fall, like it might be for a 25 
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conventional corn farmer. 1 

  CHAIRMAN: 2 

  Any other questions for our panelists 3 

from Rodale?  Gentlemen, thank you very much. 4 

  DR. LASALLE: 5 

  Thank you very much. 6 

  CHAIRMAN: 7 

  One just quick fact.  Your research, give 8 

us the number of years that you have evidence to back 9 

up your research. 10 

  DR. LASALLE: 11 

  Well, actually J.I. Rodale started 12 

studying organic foods 60 years ago, but this 13 

particular comparison trial that compares conventional 14 

chemical-based agriculture with organic regenerative 15 

agriculture is a 28-year study.  It's the oldest 16 

continuous study in the United States.  Now USDA 17 

Beltsville has replicated it.  It is --- the same 18 

kinds of studies are going on in California at the 19 

university there.  And a number of other land grants 20 

are starting to replicate our work, but we're 21 

generally 28 years ahead of them.  And it's a real 22 

treasure as far as a data bank source that lives here 23 

in Pennsylvania. Thank you very much. 24 

  CHAIRMAN: 25 
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  Thank you.  And next we'll call Leslie 1 

Zuck, the executive director of Pennsylvania Certified 2 

Organic.  Welcome, Leslie. 3 

  MS. ZUCK: 4 

  Well, that's a tough act to follow, I 5 

have to say.  I'm Leslie Zuck.  I'm the Executive 6 

Director of Pennsylvania Certified Organic.  We 7 

represent 500 or so organic and transitioning 8 

producers mostly in Pennsylvania, a few in the 9 

surrounding states. 10 

  If you're curious to know what organic 11 

agriculture looks like in Pennsylvania, I've passed 12 

out one of our calendars from this year.  These are 13 

all pictures from organic farms.  You might recognize 14 

some of them.  This kind of is a scene that I've seen 15 

today as we were driving around, people plowing.  I 16 

think we passed those out to everyone, didn’t we? 17 

  Well, I must say that I do agree with 18 

Representative Hanna that this is a bright idea, and 19 

we're happy and excited to be involved in your efforts 20 

to assist organic farmers and transitioning farmers.  21 

I would just like to make some comments here. 22 

  I do want to say that I support all the 23 

Rodale representatives' comments.  I've actually seen 24 

that famous crimper/roller up at Penn State on their 25 
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research farm there.  It's pretty interesting, kind of 1 

like a big chomping monster.  It's very cool. 2 

  I've looked through the great job you did 3 

drafting the legislation and had a few comments.  The 4 

first one I wanted to bring up was on the task force, 5 

Section 4904(c).  And I think that the organic 6 

agriculture task force, if I can say it, is a really 7 

great idea and it is a high time that Pennsylvania has 8 

one, especially since our Commonwealth does rank 10th 9 

--- or I should say in the top ten.  It fluctuates a 10 

little bit, but we've been kind of hanging out down 11 

toward the end of the top ten.  So I'd say we're 10th 12 

according to NASS right now in overall organic 13 

production in the U.S. 14 

  And yeah, there continues to be a high 15 

demand for organic food and an ever-increasing market 16 

for organic commodities in the mid-Atlantic region, 17 

but, you know, despite that, we have livestock 18 

producers who have been hit very hard by organic crop 19 

shortages and excessively high feed. 20 

  Regarding the task force, I want to point 21 

out that it would --- I think it would be a good idea 22 

if we had more farmers on that group since it's really 23 

only about 25 percent of the committee or the task 24 

force are farmers, and they should be certified 25 
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organic farmers, not just farmers using organic 1 

practices, because then you're going to get farmers 2 

working who have --- you know, who are very dedicated 3 

to organic production as evidenced by the fact that 4 

they've gone through that process, they know what it's 5 

like and they've actually achieved certification.  So 6 

I'd like to see them actually be certified farmers and 7 

a larger group that would be a little more diverse 8 

representing the various sectors of organic 9 

agriculture that we have, such as field crops, 10 

livestock, dairy, produce, tree fruit.  That's a 11 

really big one.  Penn State's doing a lot of research 12 

on organic tree fruit production.  Mushrooms, poultry, 13 

maple, the list goes on.  So I'd like to see that --- 14 

a more diversity of farmers on that group. 15 

  The next section has to do with the 16 

certified organic producer paragraph, Section 4906(6). 17 

We all got a copy of this.   18 

  As one of you questioned earlier, it is 19 

important that we not forget those farmers who have 20 

already achieved organic certification.  They're going 21 

to need some support, too.  And you know, it's great 22 

to assist the transitioning farmers.  I totally agree 23 

with that.  But the farmers who are out there now are 24 

the ones that built that market for them.  I mean, 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

33

they're the ones who, you know, are responsible for 1 

the market and the infrastructure that we have in 2 

place that is welcoming new organic, or transitioning 3 

farmers to that market. 4 

  The certified organic producers, which 5 

are mentioned in your draft legislation, should be 6 

eligible for all of the same benefits relating to 7 

expanding operations, not just for new land or 8 

animals.   9 

  For example, you know, you mentioned in 10 

the draft that these benefits will pay for 11 

infrastructure improvements, advanced organic 12 

practices, technical assistance for expansion of 13 

operations and other benefits, the same benefits 14 

provided to organic transitioning farmers.   15 

  You know, for example, instead of adding 16 

new land or animals, they might want to install a 17 

grain storage or handling facility that will allow 18 

them to increase production or perhaps they plan to 19 

build a packing shed or fencing that would allow them 20 

to, you know, double their ability to produce product. 21 

Farmers who are already certified need access to these 22 

practices, and you know, it would help them succeed in 23 

an increasingly competitive field because their 24 

neighbors are transitioning.  They're getting all this 25 
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free stuff.  And, you know, these farmers have been 1 

maybe struggling a little bit to, you know, find 2 

equipment they need to do their cultivation practices. 3 

So that's an idea I'd like you to consider. 4 

  Also, I wanted to bring your attention to 5 

other assistance programs that are already available 6 

to organic and transitioning farmers.  I think it's 7 

important that we consider these programs because we 8 

wouldn't want to duplicate other efforts.  And the one 9 

that came to mind immediately to me --- there are 10 

three programs that I'd like to talk about.  And the 11 

first one is the AGR-Lite Program which insures 12 

against loss in revenues for specialty and other crops 13 

in Pennsylvania.  And this is through the USDA's Risk 14 

Management Agency.   15 

  Education and assistance in enrolling in 16 

the program is available free to producers.  We have a 17 

representative in our Department of Agriculture that 18 

works with USDA here in Pennsylvania that goes around 19 

and helps farmers sign up for this.  And it insures 20 

their revenue loss for any crop without having it be 21 

due to organic practices. 22 

  Producers that transition to organic may 23 

also take advantage of the EQIP and AMA Programs 24 

offered through NRCS.  I included some of that program 25 
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information with your packet that I handed out 1 

earlier.  And those programs will pay cost-share 2 

payments for best management practices required for 3 

transitioning to organic.  And there's a list of those 4 

practices in your packet. 5 

  AMA also provides cost-share assistance 6 

to reimburse producers for up to 75 percent of their 7 

certification and inspection costs.  Anything having 8 

to do with the actual certification is reimbursed up 9 

to $500 per year.  I don't want to sound, you know, 10 

ungrateful for efforts. I just want to make the 11 

committee aware of what's already out there. 12 

  Okay.  Now, revenue loss, 4905(c)(4) 13 

section.  I just put the numbers on there to help you 14 

out in case you want to make changes.  The part of the 15 

program that would pay for revenue loss does concern 16 

me.  How would we actually determine that lower profit 17 

was due to organic practices and not some other 18 

management problem or weather condition?  That's 19 

always going to be difficult.  That's what I like the 20 

AGR-Lite Program because that eliminates the problem 21 

of deciding what the cause was.  They'll insure that 22 

loss regardless of the reason with some limitations.  23 

But I think it would be really difficult to know 24 

whether it was just a matter of changing to organic 25 
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practices or some other management issues such as 1 

maybe they just planted their corn too late or 2 

something like that.  You know, we don't know --- I 3 

think that would be very difficult for anybody to 4 

determine. 5 

  And also, it seems like kind of a 6 

technical nightmare for me, but you know, I'm not an 7 

accountant, so maybe it's not so hard.  We have 8 

several situations that you may or may not have 9 

considered and those would be new farmers who have not 10 

had any income to submit for the previous three years 11 

and have not had anything in production.  So I'm not 12 

sure how it would be figured out for them.  Or what if 13 

they haven't produced that same crop for the previous 14 

three years that they're planning to produce during 15 

their transition?  And you know, another issue, we get 16 

a lot of certified --- or producers who want to put 17 

their CRP land that's coming out of the CRP Program 18 

into organic.  And of course, they wouldn't have 19 

income data from that because it was out of production 20 

for ten years.   21 

  So those are some concerns.  And I'll say 22 

that the typical transitioning farmer is not your 23 

average corn and soybean commodity producer.  As Jeff 24 

mentioned, you know, a lot of times people will start 25 
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with maybe alfalfa hay for a few years to build up the 1 

nitrogen in the soil, and then they'll rotate and have 2 

corn the next year or two and continue --- and maybe 3 

put in a small grain after that.  And then after that, 4 

there would be, you know, their soybeans and so forth. 5 

So you know, there's a lot of different things that 6 

happen.  We find that those transitioning farmers tend 7 

to be very innovative and creative and often extremely 8 

diversified.  And it's common that they're going to be 9 

producing a different crop than they had been 10 

producing previously for various reasons, lots of 11 

different reasons for doing that. 12 

  Under necessary costs, you have Section 13 

4905(c)(3).  I wonder --- we talked about some of the 14 

equipment, and I'm just curious to know how and who 15 

would determine what is the necessary cost of 16 

transitioning because, you know, I think we'd like to 17 

have a little more guidance on that standard, or I 18 

would.  I'm not sure it would be my job, so someone's 19 

job.  They should really have some more information on 20 

how to make that determination.  I think it would be 21 

useful to just sort of spell that out.  As an example, 22 

you know, say I'd like a new tractor or specialized 23 

cultivating equipment or one of those nice 24 

roller/crimpers, can I just put that on my list of 25 
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things that I think I'm going to need for 1 

transitioning to organic?  Could I ask for money to 2 

pay for compost even though I would have had to buy 3 

some sort of fertilizer anyway?  Or you know, what if 4 

I think I need a computer or software program to help 5 

me keep those really --- you know, those pesky records 6 

that the certifier always wants us to keep?  7 

  So my point is record keeping is 8 

required, but computer generated spreadsheets are not. 9 

Managing weeds using organic methods is required, but, 10 

you know, a $3,000 basket weeder might not be.  Don't 11 

get me wrong.  I'm a farmer, too, and I'm all for 12 

buying new equipment.  Any technology that will 13 

enhance efficiency and help farmers do their jobs 14 

better is fine by me.  I just want to know what 15 

qualifies and what doesn't and how and who --- how 16 

we're going to make these determinations and who's 17 

going to be doing that.   18 

  And what about a new farmer who has never 19 

farmed before, and therefore, has not engaged in any 20 

farming practices?  It sounds like maybe that's, you 21 

know, would be a great boon to be able to say, I want 22 

to be an organic farmer and maybe start buying your 23 

equipment through the program.  If you have to start 24 

from square one, you can make quite a list, I think. 25 
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  Some states offer a per acre payment to 1 

farmers in transition.  I'm thinking this might be a 2 

simpler, more equitable option.  Minnesota is one of 3 

those states.  I suggest that these might be a better 4 

model for the transitioning producers just to make it 5 

fairer and more equitable.  I talked about the CRP 6 

Program.  Also, with pasture land, it's very difficult 7 

to tell what yields are in pasture production.  And 8 

also, you know, when livestock operations convert, 9 

oftentimes, you know, their costs, you know, and their 10 

yield loss and things have to do with switching to 11 

grazing, not necessarily, you know, a drop in 12 

production due to organic feed or different practices. 13 

So you know, the crop yields and the revenue loss is 14 

something that I find kind of difficult. 15 

  I do believe that the farmers need 16 

financial assistance and need the access to 17 

information.  And specifically transitioning dairy 18 

farmers area really having a hard time, and I'd like 19 

to see --- you know, if that's our intention, to 20 

really help this sector of transitioning organic 21 

producers, you know, maybe we can consider 22 

specifically addressing the dairy farmers who do have 23 

to purchase --- for one year of transitioning their 24 

dairy herd they have to purchase organic feed at a 25 
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very high cost while they're still selling their milk 1 

as non-organic.  And it is creating a hardship.  It's 2 

very difficult for them to get through that 12-month 3 

period.  I'm almost done. 4 

  Inspection reports, I'm wondering about 5 

that.  I'm not sure if someone's going to be looking 6 

at those inspection reports for ten years or what 7 

you're going to be looking for on them.  It might just 8 

make more sense to ask for the organic certificate, if 9 

there isn't going to be any analysis and you're just 10 

going to be piling up a lot of paperwork. 11 

  It sort of brings up something, though.  12 

As a certification agent, our job is to inspect and 13 

certify organic operations, and we don't ordinarily 14 

inspect operations that are not eligible for 15 

certification.  So we're not going out there and 16 

inspecting the farms during those three years of 17 

transition.  I'm thinking it would be possible to do 18 

this, but unfortunately right now we are suffering a 19 

critical shortage of qualified organic inspectors 20 

throughout the entire East Coast, and we can hardly 21 

get the certified producers inspected as it is.  So it 22 

might be prudent to have some funds available for 23 

training more inspectors and providing assistance to 24 

the certifying agents who are working with the 25 
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producers during their transition period, because we 1 

don't normally do that, and someone's going to have to 2 

do that or someone can probably do it. 3 

  So the last thing here is on the organic 4 

program director, which is not part of your draft of 5 

the legislation.  I think that the proposal is great. 6 

Minnesota has one of these, and I think it's something 7 

we really lack in Pennsylvania because we don't have 8 

an organic program director within our Department of 9 

Agriculture, and we are the only state with 10 

significant organic production that does not have an 11 

agriculture program to service organic producers.   12 

  The program director can coordinate these 13 

reports you're asking for, manage the task force and 14 

other aspects of the organic program.  And it would be 15 

someone at the Department of Agriculture that 16 

consumers and producers can go to to get their 17 

questions answered and get information about organic 18 

food and farming.  There isn't anybody there.  And I 19 

think without such a person or a program that actually 20 

acknowledges the existence of organic agriculture in 21 

Pennsylvania, we will really remain at a serious 22 

disadvantage compared with states that support organic 23 

production and marketing through their agricultural 24 

programs, and Minnesota is one of those.  They have a 25 
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great department there. 1 

  Oh, I forgot to tell you at the 2 

beginning.  If you just didn't want to listen me or 3 

read all this, you can just skip to the end where I 4 

have the bulleted conclusions of my comments.  So I 5 

won't go through those again, but they are listed here 6 

for you.   7 

  And the one thing that I don't have on 8 

there that you could add if you would like is the 9 

annual organic report that you have.  I think this is 10 

going to be a great tool for us, reporting on the 11 

status of organic agriculture in Pennsylvania.  I'm 12 

really not sure, though, how we can provide the 13 

information comparing --- or I should say, how the 14 

Department or how who is going to do this compare the 15 

organic and conventional agriculture production or, 16 

you know, reliably report on the positive and negative 17 

aspects of organic agriculture.  I'd really like to 18 

see those paragraphs six and seven deleted.  I don't 19 

think they're useful.  I don't think they promote 20 

agriculture.  I don't think they help in any way.  21 

Obviously, organic farmers are required by their 22 

certification to improve and enhance the environment 23 

and it just doesn't seem like it fits in this program 24 

to me.  Thank you. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN: 1 

  Thank you, Leslie.  We appreciate your 2 

testimony.  Can I go back to the certification process 3 

again? 4 

  MS. ZUCK: 5 

  Sure. 6 

  CHAIRMAN: 7 

  And that's a federally mandated and 8 

funded program? 9 

  MS. ZUCK: 10 

  The certification cost-share program or 11 

the program itself? 12 

  CHAIRMAN: 13 

  The program itself. 14 

  MS. ZUCK: 15 

  Well, funded is a good question.  It's a 16 

federal regulatory program that accredits private, 17 

nonprofit organizations and states to implement the 18 

program.  So as a nonprofit organization, we implement 19 

the program by taking the certification applications 20 

and inspecting the farms.  The USDA has a staff of six 21 

or eight people down in Washington and through the 22 

NOSB, National Organic Standards Board, that Jeff 23 

Moyer is a member of, they set the standards and 24 

regulations and policies, and then they accredit us.  25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

44

They come and inspect us, audit us and say, you know, 1 

you guys can do it.  So that's how that works.  Does 2 

that answer your question? 3 

  CHAIRMAN: 4 

  It does.  But it goes to what you had 5 

said before about the need for more people to do the 6 

certification inspections.  In order to get more 7 

people to do that, there would have to be an agreement 8 

on the federal level that they want to provide 9 

additional funds to support those ---. 10 

  MS. ZUCK: 11 

  They don't pay anything for that.  They 12 

don't pay us anything for that.  The farmers pay for 13 

that.  The farmers foot the entire bill for the cost 14 

of the inspector that goes out to their farm.  They 15 

pay for my staff and our office overhead.  In fact, we 16 

pay them $15,000 to $20,000 a year for the 17 

accreditation process and the audit.  So the only 18 

money that filters down through the federal government 19 

to the farmer is that direct cost-share reimbursements 20 

for the $500.  Hopefully, the new farm bill, it's 21 

going to be $750 annually toward their cost of getting 22 

certified and inspected. 23 

  CHAIRMAN: 24 

  What I was trying to get at, and maybe 25 
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you've answered it now, to actually get an increased 1 

number of inspector, it's going to fall on the farm 2 

community to pay for that? 3 

  MS. ZUCK: 4 

  Absolutely.  Yes, absolutely.  Right now, 5 

we can't even keep up with what we've got.  We had an 6 

inspector training we held in State College last 7 

November.  And we had a hundred people there from all 8 

over the world coming to that inspector training, 9 

which cost each person individually, or whoever paid 10 

for it, between $1,500 and $3,000 to attend that one- 11 

week training.  So it's kind of burdensome for people 12 

who want to get involved in that. 13 

  CHAIRMAN: 14 

  And the three-year process, can I ask the 15 

--- you mentioned CRP lands.  You mentioned dairy 16 

farms.  Is there a different time frame for them than 17 

there is for someone who's converting from 18 

conventional farming, conventional fields to organic? 19 

If you have a field that's not being used at all at 20 

this point, do you still have to go three years? 21 

  MS. ZUCK: 22 

  Sort of.  Kind of.  With the CRP land, if 23 

you haven't been using and you haven't been in 24 

production, you don't have to be in production for 25 
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three years before you can get certified.  You can go 1 

ahead and enroll it in the certification program as 2 

long as you haven't used herbicides which are --- you 3 

sometimes are allowed to, but you're not really 4 

supposed to.  And so those usually qualify 5 

immediately.   6 

  And for the dairy farmers, they have to 7 

transition their pasture land for three years.  But 8 

during that third year of transition --- pasture and 9 

crop land.  During that third year of transition, they 10 

can start transitioning their dairy herd.  Even though 11 

the dairy herd is eating the pasture that's growing 12 

there, you know, and the land's not technically 13 

certified yet, they can start transitioning.  But they 14 

have to feed them 100 percent certified organic grains 15 

and feeds and approved minerals, use medications that 16 

are approved and all for that whole entire year. 17 

  CHAIRMAN: 18 

  Thank you.  Other questions on my right? 19 

Representative Grucela? 20 

  REPRESENTATIVE GRUCELA: 21 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I have a 22 

serious question, but the lead-in is going to sound 23 

humorous.  I'm one of those suburban backyard 24 

gardeners, you know, but everything I plant turns to 25 
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weeds.  But last fall I just threw in some blueberry 1 

and raspberry bushes, and I just --- and I don’t add 2 

anything.  I just dig up and throw them in the ground. 3 

Would those berries actually be considered organic, 4 

number one?  But what made me think about this the --- 5 

who do we know the soil can sustain organic farming?  6 

Is there testing involved? 7 

  MS. ZUCK: 8 

  There is no specific testing for --- you 9 

know, to determine if there are pesticides or anything 10 

in the land because there are a lot of reasons for 11 

that.  It's very difficult to know --- unless you know 12 

specifically what to suspect might be in there, you'd 13 

have to test for an awful lot of chemicals and that 14 

would be a couple thousand dollars per test.  It's not 15 

really what the program's all about.  The program is a 16 

system of production.  It's not essentially a 17 

guarantee of purity in some way or another.  It's a 18 

system of management of your farm that allows you to 19 

call your product organic.   20 

  So in your case, if you had not used any 21 

Round-up or other lawn chemicals in that particular 22 

area for three years and you put your crop in there 23 

and you kept a buffer from other areas that might have 24 

chemicals or prohibited materials, you could very well 25 
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have a little organic farm in your backyard.  But it 1 

does bring up another point, and that is with the 2 

revenue loss issue ---.  I did cut out a bit of my 3 

testimony for brevity’s sake.  What we don't want to 4 

do is reward people who might be farming by neglect, 5 

you know, people who are not putting in enough effort 6 

to get a good crop because they know they're going to 7 

get a payment whether they make a profit or not.  And 8 

that is something you'll hear ---.    9 

  You know, Jeff Moyer talked about it a 10 

little bit.  Some farmers go the route of input 11 

substitution.  They just have, you know, this regular 12 

conventional farm and then they stop using the 13 

chemicals they buy down the road at the farm store and 14 

they look in a book and they find out that there's 15 

these replacement products that you can use that are 16 

approved by organic.  And they try to go that route 17 

and often do have high costs, low production, poor 18 

yields, because they're not putting their efforts 19 

into, you know, improving their soil and the types of 20 

things that we --- that farmers who are using 21 

sustainable practices such as crop rotations and cover 22 

crops and natural sources of nitrogen are using. 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE GRUCELA: 24 

  I'm still a little confused.  If I never 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

49

--- in my case, I don't really care. You know, I'm not 1 

going to try to sell as organic.  The only thing I 2 

could think of, it's close to the road and maybe the 3 

salt from the road. 4 

  MS. ZUCK: 5 

  Well, yeah. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE GRUCELA: 7 

  But I'm still confused.  If I'm a brand 8 

new farmer or I bought --- and I have a field that I 9 

never had anything.  It was just grass, but I know it 10 

wasn't treated or anything.  I just dig it up. 11 

  MS. ZUCK: 12 

  Right. 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE GRUCELA: 14 

  How do I get certified?  Does someone 15 

have to come in and test that soil to make me say in 16 

the first year, not having to wait three years, but in 17 

the first year I'm having organic crops? 18 

  MS. ZUCK: 19 

  No.  You would fill out an application 20 

form that says how you managed those crops or how you 21 

managed that weedy field for three years.  And your 22 

application form might say I had no crop, I didn't mow 23 

it, I didn't do anything to it for three years.  I 24 

applied no chemicals.  I applied no manure, noting. 25 
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  REPRESENTATIVE GRUCELA: 1 

  I still have to wait three years? 2 

  MS. ZUCK: 3 

  From the last time that any prohibited 4 

material was applied, not from the date of 5 

application, of submitting your certification 6 

application.  Just from the last ---. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE GRUCELA: 8 

  If I could prove --- excuse me.  If I 9 

could prove --- 10 

  MS. ZUCK: 11 

  You don't have to prove it. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE GRUCELA: 13 

  --- it in the first year, could I get it 14 

--- my question is, could I get it in one year? 15 

  MS. ZUCK: 16 

  You could, if you qualify.  And the CRP 17 

land often does.  And farmers who come to us who have 18 

--- a lot of times, as Jeff Moyer mentioned, their hay 19 

fields are often eligible right away because they 20 

rarely do use anything on their hay fields other than 21 

manure.  So sometimes a farmer will say, you know, my 22 

neighbor is an organic dairy farmer and he could 23 

really use some organic hay because he's getting it 24 

from Nebraska or some place, could I get my farm 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

51

certified this year and then I could sell him my hay 1 

crop.  And, you know, we try to be --- to do that if 2 

we can ascertain that he, you know ---.  And people 3 

who have chemicals applied have to obviously keep that 4 

record book for chemical applications.  So we can look 5 

at that, and that's a really good source to make sure 6 

that only approved materials have been used.   7 

  REPRESENTATIVE GRUCELA: 8 

  Thank you. 9 

  MS. ZUCK: 10 

  Thank you. 11 

  CHAIRMAN: 12 

  Representative Moul? 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 14 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Leslie, thank 15 

you.  I'll try and go through my four questions fairly 16 

quickly in the interest of time.  And I'm trying to 17 

understand, and I'm very new at this organic versus 18 

conventional.  I came off of very conventional 19 

farming.  We're down to --- is this the difference 20 

between --- in organic is a chemical difference? 21 

  MS. ZUCK: 22 

  In organic ---. 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 24 

  Between conventional and organic, does it 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

52

all boil down to the chemicals for let's say grain 1 

farming? 2 

  MS. ZUCK: 3 

  Okay.  Well, there is a fairly 4 

substantial list of practices that have to be followed 5 

that are required by the federal regulation. One of 6 

those practices is crop rotation, and other practices 7 

are soil management to maintain and improve organic 8 

matter in the soil.  And also, if you are using 9 

particular materials for fertility or pest management, 10 

those have to be on an approved list.  And you know, 11 

it's not so much chemicals. because everything's a 12 

chemical whether it's natural or not.  13 

  So it's synthetics.  Most of the 14 

prohibited materials are synthetic agricultural 15 

inputs, and the allowed materials are mostly natural 16 

inputs.  You can still use your lime and your gypsum, 17 

and you know, those materials are allowed.  The 18 

nitrogens just have to be from a natural source.  So 19 

there's a list, you know, of what they have to follow. 20 

It's not just the lack of chemicals. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 22 

  What about no-till practice?  Does that 23 

have any bearing on it? 24 

  MS. ZUCK: 25 
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  Well, if you can use --- if you do a no-1 

till practice without the glyphosate or you know, 2 

synthetic weed herbicides, synthetic herbicides, and 3 

that's where the roller/crimper research has come in 4 

that Rodale has done, because that is something that 5 

organic farmers have wanted to do for conservation 6 

purposes, try not to till up the soil.  And that's --- 7 

they've been a little bit stymied and had that burden 8 

of well, I can't till up the soil and I can't use 9 

synthetic herbicides, so what do I do.  And they 10 

invented this neat machine that does that. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 12 

  I'm just trying to wrap my brain around 13 

this.  You made mention that you send $15,000 to 14 

$20,000 per year to who? 15 

  MS. ZUCK: 16 

  Oh, the National --- or the U.S. 17 

Department of Agricultural for accrediting us a 18 

certifier to go out and do this work. 19 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 20 

  That's each and every year? 21 

  MS. ZUCK: 22 

  They just changed it.  It used to be 23 

every year.  Now, it's every three years, so we got a 24 

big break. 25 
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  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 1 

  Okay. 2 

  MS. ZUCK: 3 

  Yeah, they're going to --- what they do 4 

is that's to cover the cost of the audit.  So they 5 

come to our office, audit all of our records to make 6 

sure we actually are going to the farms and inspecting 7 

them and we aren't just taking peoples' money and 8 

giving them a nice certificate that makes it look like 9 

they're certified.  They actually go out to the farms. 10 

They spend a week going out with inspectors to make 11 

sure that they're, you know ---. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 13 

  It pays for labor? 14 

  MS. ZUCK: 15 

  Yep. 16 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 17 

  Okay.  I just ---. 18 

  MS. ZUCK: 19 

  And flight costs and you know, 20 

restaurants and stuff like that. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 22 

  We know all about that stuff. 23 

  MS. ZUCK: 24 

  Yeah, yeah. 25 
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  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 1 

  In your testimony, when it came to the 2 

dairy, I didn't see anything written on rbST.  How's 3 

that viewed? 4 

  MS. ZUCK: 5 

  It's not permitted in organic production. 6 

It's a genetically-modified synthetic substance. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 8 

  All right. 9 

  MS. ZUCK: 10 

  And so genetically-modified organisms and 11 

most synthetic materials are not permitted.  There are 12 

some health care materials that are allowed for 13 

livestock production.  But anything that's 14 

genetically-modified is not. 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 16 

  Okay.  I'm not going to go the labeling 17 

path with you today.  We'd be here way too long. 18 

  MS. ZUCK: 19 

  Well, I happen to be an expert in that, 20 

too, and the label --- that is one of the reasons why 21 

the --- the particular language regarding the type of 22 

milk and the waiver as to whether the milk has to be 23 

labeled with a special disclaimer is not required on 24 

organic labels because of the fact that the organic 25 
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production certification standard doesn't allow it. 1 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 2 

  Okay.  One final question. 3 

  CHAIRMAN: 4 

  That's fine, Representative Moul. 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 6 

  This is a quickie. 7 

  MS. ZUCK: 8 

  I don't mind.  I can do this all day 9 

long. 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 11 

  If you take organically-grown grain or 12 

produced milk and put it side by side with 13 

conventionally grown grain or milk on slides under a 14 

microscope, will you see any difference? 15 

  MS. ZUCK: 16 

  Oh, I don't know the answer to that.  17 

That's way out of my league.  But there have certainly 18 

been researchers that have done that, so I’d really 19 

have to ---. 20 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 21 

  But you don't ---? 22 

  MS. ZUCK: 23 

  I'll have to defer to that.  But there 24 

are --- there are studies that show that the 25 
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organically-produced milk that has come from animals 1 

that are grazed on pasture, which organic production 2 

requires, provides additional health benefits in a lot 3 

of ways because of the nutrients that go into that 4 

milk through the cows being out on the pasture as 5 

opposed to being confined and eating only grains.  And 6 

I think there are --- Rodale's really good at this.  7 

They have lots of research going there that there are 8 

--- that the nutrient content, sugar content in those 9 

are different, but it's a result of the production 10 

method, and, you know, of course, necessarily the lack 11 

of certain materials that are used in the production. 12 

But foods, of course, are often shown to have less 13 

pesticide residue on them, and of course, people 14 

consider that a more healthful choice. 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 16 

  Okay.  Just curious.  Thank you. 17 

  CHAIRMAN: 18 

  Thank you.  Representative Keller?  They 19 

were five good questions. 20 

  MS. ZUCK: 21 

  They were very good questions.  And I 22 

forgot to ask --- I wanted to know if there are any 23 

farmers facing me out there.  I guess there's one. 24 

  REPRESENTATIVE KELLER: 25 
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  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you, 1 

Leslie, for the testimony.  I think that you have 2 

presented in your testimony some very I'll say 3 

constructive criticism.  And these are issues that I 4 

had concerns with also.  And I think that knowing 5 

Representative Kessler, that's what this is all about, 6 

getting the information provided in here so that when 7 

a bill is --- or does goes through that it's done 8 

correctly and that we're not just throwing money at 9 

organizations or issues.  And I think you brought up 10 

some very valid points.  You know, I'm not going to go 11 

through all them.  I just want to comment you on your 12 

testimony here and the process that's taking place, 13 

and hopefully we can --- we can address some of those 14 

issues of concern.  Thank you. 15 

  MS. ZUCK: 16 

  I truly appreciate the opportunity, and 17 

it's great that you're taking a serious look at it 18 

because it's always easier to correct things before 19 

they go out there than it is to fix it after the fact. 20 

I found anyway in my experience. 21 

  CHAIRMAN: 22 

  Representative Denlinger? 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 24 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, 25 
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Leslie, for your excellent testimony.  A couple 1 

questions.  I'm like Representative Moul.  I'm trying 2 

to get my mind around some of this as well.  Is 3 

Pennsylvania Certified Organic the only certifying 4 

agency in Pennsylvania? 5 

  MS. ZUCK: 6 

  We're the only that exists in 7 

Pennsylvania, but most agencies have the ability to 8 

certify in any state, as we do as well.  We have been 9 

here for 12 years and have been certifying in 10 

Pennsylvania.  But as Jeff Moyer stated, there are 95 11 

certifiers.  I think about half of them are domestic 12 

and the rest are international and --- or foreign, I 13 

guess they call them.  I'd say last time I checked 14 

there were nine or ten other certifiers that also 15 

certified within our state, but at much lower numbers 16 

than what we have.  You know, a few here or there for 17 

various reasons.  In some cases it's because they are 18 

a number of farms in Pennsylvania that were certified 19 

more than 12 years ago before we actually existed and 20 

were certified by neighboring states because there was 21 

no certifier in Pennsylvania.  And that's one of the 22 

reasons we formed our organization, so we could 23 

provide those services. 24 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 25 
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  And in your testimony, you mentioned that 1 

you represent about 500 certified farming ---. 2 

  MS. ZUCK: 3 

  And transitioning. 4 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 5 

  Okay. 6 

  MS. ZUCK: 7 

  At any given time, we have between 50 and 8 

a hundred transitioning producers. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 10 

  Okay.  Well, that was actually my next 11 

question.  So you're trying to keep those folks 12 

following proper procedures and --- 13 

  MS. ZUCK: 14 

  Absolutely. 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 16 

  --- you're adding roughly how many on an 17 

annual basis? 18 

  MS. ZUCK: 19 

  It's been really --- last year we 20 

certified over a hundred new producers.  So we had 21 

started the year with about 350, ended the year with 22 

450.  That doesn't count the contracted producers, so 23 

probably another hundred of those.  So we do about 900 24 

inspections every year including the contractor 25 
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producers as well as all the other aspects of the 1 

program. 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 3 

  And I'm wondering --- you know, we're 4 

talking about people transitioning into organic.  How 5 

many folks do you deal with who you get on their 6 

operation and you say, you know, this just doesn't cut 7 

it and you go through a decertification with them?  8 

How often does that happen? 9 

  MS. ZUCK: 10 

  It's very rare.  In the first place when 11 

you first apply we really look closely at your organic 12 

system plan that you submit.  That's your plan of what 13 

your farming practices are going to be.  And we go 14 

through that, and we work with the farmer on that and 15 

make sure they comply with all the regulatory 16 

requirements.  So that's what we look at first.   17 

  Then when we think, well, this all looks 18 

good. Their ideas for managing pests and weeds and all 19 

are going to work and they're all approved.  The 20 

materials they're using for their dairy cows are 21 

proper.  Then we send the inspector out to verify that 22 

the practices they put down on paper are actually what 23 

they're doing out in the field.  So we do that 24 

process.   25 
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  And it's very uncommon --- normally, it 1 

would be caught at that first level of, you know, 2 

before we go out to the farm, oh, wait, you've been 3 

using this health care, you know, product on your 4 

cows.  You're going to have to wait another year 5 

before you're eligible.  And that maybe happens once 6 

or twice a year. 7 

  The other part of it, finding something 8 

that's going on on a farm that we have to, you know, 9 

suspend a certification that's already been granted 10 

has actually never happened. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 12 

  Is that right?  Never happened? 13 

  MS. ZUCK: 14 

  Never happened.  And, you know, part of 15 

it's because, you know, if you find a practice that 16 

someone's doing, you look at the reason for it.  If it 17 

turns out that they made a mistake and they used 18 

something they shouldn't have used, it --- most times 19 

it's something that's possibly correctable and maybe 20 

they just have to wait for that particular field 21 

another three years and then it will be eligible.  So 22 

we really try hard to, you know, help people figure  23 

--- it's a complicated program.  I mean, it's --- the 24 

application is 17 pages long.  You know, it takes 25 
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people days to fill it out. 1 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 2 

  I think that's kind of --- I appreciate 3 

that.  I'm trying to ---. 4 

  MS. ZUCK: 5 

  So don't worry if you don't understand it 6 

in the 20 minutes I've explained it. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 8 

  I'm wondering, do farmers get, you know, 9 

a year and a half into this process and say, you know 10 

what, market forces have changed and by golly, this is 11 

just not for me because the bottom line just isn't 12 

going to work out? 13 

  MS. ZUCK: 14 

  Right.  That actually started to happen 15 

just this year.  With the high cost of organic feed 16 

for organic dairy farms, several farmers who were in 17 

transition decided to postpone their transition. 18 

They're already in transition.  They're already, you 19 

know, feeding organic feed.  They're kind of stuck.  20 

They're having to decide now should I quit and then 21 

have to start over again, because you can't just do it 22 

for six months, quit for three and do another six 23 

months.  You got to do a 12-month continuous period. 24 

  So getting through the winter this year 25 
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with the hay shortages and the high costs on the 1 

farmer to --- I had to buy hay also, was very 2 

difficult for farmers.  And we didn't have anyone in 3 

Pennsylvania, but we had several people in New York go 4 

out of organic production because of the high cost of 5 

feed. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 7 

  And getting back to the bill at hand that 8 

we're considering --- and again, I do appreciate your 9 

thoughtful review of that.  Section 4906(e) goes into 10 

what the state will do when somebody does not follow 11 

through with the program.  And I'm just going to read 12 

the short sentence here.  It allows the Department to 13 

terminate payments and require repayment in whole of 14 

payments already received if it is determined that the 15 

producer is not pursuing organic certification.  So 16 

basically, we're going to go and recollect monies that 17 

we have sent out to that farmer. Do you feel that that 18 

--- that we're striking --- that Representative 19 

Kessler is striking the right tone with that?  You 20 

know, you want sort of the carrot and stick mentality, 21 

but, you know, how much stick do you apply to people? 22 

Is a collection of payments, collecting them back 23 

appropriate or what do you think on that? 24 

  MS. ZUCK: 25 
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  I don't know.  I don't think it would be 1 

very easy to do.  You could make them give back their 2 

roller/crimper and give it to somebody else, I guess. 3 

I don't know.  I mean, I think that's always an issue 4 

with these programs because, you know, for any of the 5 

programs, the stream bank fencing, cost shares, you 6 

know, they all have that ten year rule.  You've got to 7 

have the practice in place for ten years.  Do people 8 

actually go back and check and see?  In my experience, 9 

no.   10 

  And I didn't take a real good look at 11 

that section.  I probably would have addressed it.  12 

I'm not sure I got all the pages here, but I did have 13 

that concern.  I wasn't sure how that would actually 14 

play out on the ground.  And I'm not being much help 15 

with that, but I'll give it some thought. 16 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 17 

  I appreciate that.  You know, it's a 18 

challenge for us.  You know, we make investments in 19 

all areas.  And when folks don't follow through, what 20 

should be our response to that?  So that's a 21 

challenge. 22 

  MS. ZUCK: 23 

  Right.  Yeah.  And I have some 24 

familiarity with the Midwest programs, and there was 25 
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some concerns.  Certifiers out there had issues where, 1 

you know, just to get the money, people were putting 2 

in their application for certification.  And they have 3 

no intentions of every really going through with it.  4 

And they were getting their payments from the 5 

Department of Agriculture.  But you know, the 6 

certifiers were saying people would call us up.  We'd 7 

get their application, and it looked all good.  We'd 8 

send it back saying congratulations, you're certified. 9 

And they'd say, well, wait a minute, we don't want to 10 

be certified.  We want to be in transition so we can 11 

collect this money.  So you know, then they'd say, 12 

well, if I go out and spray some Round-up then, can I 13 

start my transition for three years and collect the 14 

payments, you know.   15 

  So that's something to consider, and 16 

that's part of the impetus for including already 17 

certified organic farmers in it, too, because, you 18 

know, they're going to be jealous if this guy just got 19 

this new equipment next door and here they've been 20 

struggling a long time to keep things going. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: 22 

  I appreciate those comments.  That's the 23 

end of my questioning.  If you want to take a look at 24 

that, submit some written thoughts to the Chairman for 25 
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the Committee, that would be appreciated.  Thank you. 1 

  CHAIRMAN: 2 

  Thank you, Representative Denlinger.  3 

Representative Kessler? 4 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 5 

  Thank you for your testimony.  And as 6 

Representative Keller had said, one of the major 7 

purposes of having a hearing is to get testimony to 8 

help improve a piece of legislation.  It's a draft to 9 

make improvements. 10 

  You mentioned just this last comment that 11 

you made as far as somebody getting enrolled just to 12 

get the transition money.  In the bill, we have a 13 

commitment that they have to commit to go organic for 14 

ten years to prevent that from happening.  Do you 15 

think we should have a --- continue to have that 16 

commitment in the bill? 17 

  MS. ZUCK: 18 

  I don't know that the ten years is really 19 

going to be as enforceable as, you know, even the four 20 

or five years.  I mean, if --- they're going to have a 21 

three --- not everybody's going to have a three-year 22 

transition.  Some people are going to be, you know, 23 

maybe a one year or whatever.  But if they can get 24 

their equipment that first year and they're able to 25 
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use it for a period of time, if the idea is to support 1 

them, you know, ten years is a long time and markets 2 

change.   3 

  It's not really the same as a stream bank 4 

fencing or some of these other practices because --- I 5 

don't know.  Some people really are struggling and 6 

working really hard to do it.  I mean, what if they 7 

just go out of farming and --- you know, because they 8 

get ill or they can't --- you know, their dad's old 9 

and can't help them anymore.  There's lots of reasons 10 

people go out of farming, much less go out of organic 11 

farming, and I'd hate to penalize them and say, okay, 12 

we gave you all these thousands of dollars, cough it 13 

up.  You know, I don't think it's fair. 14 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 15 

  We can try to address that then.  You 16 

talked about fees.  On average in a year's time, what 17 

does an organic farmer pay in fees to you? 18 

  MS. ZUCK: 19 

  The certification fees --- the basic fee 20 

is $660.  This is on our web site, too, which I forgot 21 

to give you my card, but it's on the calendar.  The 22 

$660 is the base fee for certification.  And if you 23 

have a livestock or a dairy operation, it goes up from 24 

there.  You get an additional assessment for the 25 
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review of those additional documents.  We have to look 1 

at the different parts of the rule you have to comply 2 

with.   3 

  So a typical dairy farmer probably pays 4 

about twice that every year.  Every year they pay 5 

that.  And then there would also be --- there would 6 

also be the inspection fees over and above the 7 

certification costs, and those generally are between 8 

$150 and $300 depending on how big the farm is.  It's 9 

an hourly amount that they pay.  So you're looking at 10 

$1,000 to $3,000 per year. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 12 

  You mentioned NRCS.  Can you tell me 13 

where those monies come from, where they initiate from 14 

and how they're dispersed to the state and then how 15 

the state determines who they're paid to, or what 16 

programs they go to? 17 

  MS. ZUCK: 18 

  Sure.  The EQIP Program is --- actually, 19 

I went to the web site today for those programs, and 20 

that --- they are not currently taking applications 21 

for them, but they encourage people to submit them.  22 

And then they usually have a period of time during 23 

which you have to apply, and it's usually pretty 24 

short.  So they want you to come in and fill out the 25 
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application forms.  That's why I included --- it's 1 

from the Agricultural Management Assistance Agency of 2 

USDA and that's ---. 3 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 4 

  Oh, so that's federal ---? 5 

  MS. ZUCK: 6 

  It is federal funds, yes.  And it's  7 

just ---. 8 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 9 

  And it's dispersed to all the states 10 

throughout the country? 11 

  MS. ZUCK: 12 

  Yeah.  And they get to decide --- the 13 

NRCS Technical Committee, which I'm a member of, in 14 

each state gets to decide how they use that money and 15 

how much goes to each program, how much goes to the 16 

organic transition, versus this, versus that.  So this 17 

--- and the way they decide who gets it is they have 18 

to fill out the forms I included in your packet, which 19 

is a ranking sheet, to determine ---.  It's sort of 20 

competitive funds because they only get so much.  And 21 

they have funded a number of organic transition 22 

programs, though, in our state. 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 24 

  Okay.  So the state determines what line 25 
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items  essentially as opposed ---? 1 

  MS. ZUCK: 2 

  Sure.  They could say, you know, we want 3 

to support grazing or we want to support stream bank 4 

fencing or manure management or something and put this 5 

much money into that, and they can distribute it. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 7 

  And you say that Pennsylvania has taken 8 

some of those monies from the NRCS and instituted them 9 

into transition from conventional to organic? 10 

  MS. ZUCK: 11 

  Correct.  They have. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 13 

  How does that work and what would they 14 

get? 15 

  MS. ZUCK: 16 

  They got a 75 percent cost share up to   17 

--- I believe it's, and don't quote me, $10,000 or 18 

something.  It's on this form.  And it covers these  19 

--- this list of practices here on this page, which 20 

are cover and green manure crops, integrated pest 21 

management for allowed materials, establishment of 22 

forage legumes, warm season grasses, nutrient 23 

management, residue management, non-synthetic mulch, 24 

prescribed grazing, composting, crop rotation and 25 
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there's a number of other ones.  Those are the soil 1 

building practice ones.  There's also things like wind 2 

breaks for buffers when you need a buffer between a 3 

conventional farm and an organic farm.  And they have 4 

to --- as part of that program, they do have to submit 5 

an organic plan, just like in your legislation, to an 6 

accredited certifier that's approved. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 8 

  Do you know how much money Pennsylvania 9 

set aside in 2007 for the transition? 10 

  MS. ZUCK: 11 

  There may not be any left. I don't know. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 13 

  I didn't ask how much was left.  I meant 14 

how much was set aside in 2007. 15 

  MS. ZUCK: 16 

  I don't know.  The year I was on the 17 

committee there was $100,000 that was given out to, I 18 

think, nine --- nine to 11 farms. 19 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 20 

  What year was that you were on the 21 

committee? 22 

  MS. ZUCK: 23 

  2003 or 2004. 24 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 25 
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  2003.  Okay.  All right.  Thank you. 1 

  MS. ZUCK: 2 

  I'm still on the committee.  I just 3 

haven't been on --- I was on the task force that 4 

developed the organic transition ranking sheet, so 5 

that was the year I did that.  I don't have the 6 

numbers for previous years. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 8 

  My understanding in 2007, there was no 9 

money. 10 

  MS. ZUCK: 11 

  I don't think there is.  That's why 12 

they're not taking applications. 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 14 

  Yeah.  I don't think there was any in 15 

2007.  I don't think there was any in 2006, as well as 16 

2005.  Thank you. 17 

  CHAIRMAN: 18 

  Thank you, Leslie.  Next presenters are 19 

Abram Ziegler from Paradise Valley Organic Farm, 20 

Forrest Stricker from 300-Acre Organic Livestock and 21 

Crop Farm in Berks County, Joseph Fisher from an 22 

organic dairy farm in Lancaster County, William Mason, 23 

Jr. from Mason's Heritage 400-acre Organic Crop Farm. 24 

If all four of them would like to come up and join our 25 
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panel.  Take your time getting set up.  We're going to 1 

take about a three to five-minute break, no longer 2 

than that, because we're already a little behind and 3 

we're going to have to get back on schedule.  So we'll 4 

let those presenters get situated while we just take a 5 

short break here. 6 

SHORT BREAK TAKEN 7 

  CHAIRMAN: 8 

  Take a moment to reintroduce yourselves 9 

and then tell us a little bit about your farm.  And 10 

we're particularly interested in the transition 11 

process that each of you went through.  I think we'll 12 

hear from all four of you and hold the questions until 13 

we've heard from all four.  So sir, would you like to 14 

start? 15 

  MR. MASON: 16 

  Not really. 17 

  CHAIRMAN: 18 

  Well, you have to. 19 

  MR. MASON: 20 

  Is this on? 21 

  CHAIRMAN: 22 

  It certainly is. 23 

  MR. MASON: 24 

  Okay. My name is Bill Mason.  I'm from 25 
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Maryland's eastern shore, and I drove up here on a two 1 

and half hour drive today.  I'm glad to be here.  I 2 

met Dave about a month ago through Rodale.   I am a 3 

conventional and organic farmer.  We have about 400 4 

acres --- I mean about 800 acres, about 400 of which 5 

is certified organic.  We also have about 150 acres 6 

that’s in transition.  7 

  We started organic farming three years 8 

for some of the reasons that you heard up here.  I 9 

think in 2001 we had a drought.  In 2002, we have a 10 

flood.  And, of course, the grain prices at that time 11 

were probably half of what they are today, 12 

conventional grain prices, and our expenses were going 13 

up.  So we decided on our farm we had to make some 14 

changes.  And we explored several avenues, but we felt 15 

the organic approach might suit us.  We had been in 16 

the vegetable business and still are in the produce 17 

business, but we had necessary equipment to start 18 

organic farming. 19 

  This will be our fourth year.  The first 20 

year we plowed and cultivated everything we owned, and 21 

that was quite a process and quite an undertaking.  22 

And so we've been up to Rodale several times those 23 

years and looked at some of their no-till plots up 24 

there.  And two years ago, we decided that the no-till 25 
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approach would certainly help us.  We were --- prior 1 

to that, we were doing mostly no-till on our 2 

conventional grain.  So we purchased a roller from I&J 3 

Manufacturing two years ago, mounted it on the front 4 

of our tractor and hooked a no-till drill behind the 5 

tractor and have used that for two years. 6 

  The first year we did about 120 acres, 7 

and actually last year we did about 120 acres also.  8 

This year we're going to do about 150 acres that way. 9 

We've had extremely good success with it.  We've 10 

planted into a rye cover crop about the third week in 11 

May, and we have averaged about 50 bushels of soybeans 12 

an acre which is a pretty respectable yield, 13 

especially at organic prices. 14 

  We're also working with Rodale and Penn 15 

State.  We have some test plots on our farm.  This 16 

will be the second year for them.  We are 17 

investigating different cover crops.  We have two or 18 

three different kinds of rye, plus triticale that 19 

we're trying, rolling down for soybeans.  We are, like 20 

most organic farmers, when we're growing corn, we're 21 

in a dire need of nitrogen.  We have been using some 22 

poultry litter, but have realized that we need to grow 23 

more nitrogen on our farm.  Consequently, last year we 24 

tried rolling down crimson clover and planting no-till 25 
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corn and that on a couple acres with fair success.  We 1 

have planted some more crimson clover plots this year 2 

plus Australian winter peas as a nitrogen source, and 3 

we're going to roll them down probably about the third 4 

week of May also and plant no-till corn in them and 5 

try that this year. 6 

  But we've been pretty successful with our 7 

organic in the three years that we've done it.  We're 8 

glad we did it.  Our yields have, in soybeans I don't 9 

think really have dropped at all from conventionally- 10 

grown grain, but the corn yields have dropped some 11 

because of nitrogen basically, not being able to 12 

provide enough nitrogen. 13 

  I guess that's a general overview of what 14 

we're doing. 15 

  CHAIRMAN: 16 

  Thank you.  That was very, very helpful. 17 

Sir? 18 

  MR. ZIEGLER: 19 

  My name is Abram Ziegler.  I prefer to be 20 

called Bucky.  That's my nickname, so you'll hear that 21 

mentioned.  I have a 270-acre organic farm about a 22 

little over two hours north of here in Montour County 23 

near Danville.  And I've been farming for about 30 24 

years and was a conventional farmer up until I'd like 25 
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to say about the mid '90s. 1 

  And I got involved in the early '90s with 2 

PASA and did some on-farm research with cover crops.  3 

At that point, we were a conventional corn and soybean 4 

operation, but about 1991, we had a real bad drought, 5 

and I just could see a difference in the fields where 6 

we had some legumes that we plowed down or some sod 7 

was plowed down.  And so we started playing around 8 

with using hairy vetch and some other cover crops, 9 

trying to get them into the soybeans late in the 10 

season and saw some benefits there.  There were some 11 

struggles with that.  But the main reason we were 12 

trying to that was to incorporate some legumes and 13 

some green manures to try to build soil fertility and 14 

organic matter.   15 

  And so having grown up on a conventional 16 

farm, it was kind of a learning experience.  And it 17 

was a good learning experience, and it brought us to 18 

the point at about 1997, after having tried some 19 

cultivating and reducing our herbicide use on the farm 20 

to control weeds, we used a cultivator and bought a 21 

cultivator and started to use it successfully for weed 22 

control as well as a rotary hoe in our row crops.   23 

  We also began to implement small grains 24 

and clovers in a more diversified rotation in a 25 
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cropping system on our farm, and that was one of the 1 

most positive things that we could have done.  And I 2 

believe that a farmer who's been using those kind of 3 

rotations probably won't see the loss in yields that 4 

you typically see when you transition to organic 5 

compared to the farmer that's been mostly raising row 6 

crops.  And so thankfully, we began to use some green 7 

manures and clovers and some hays in our rotation.   8 

  And in 1997, we started to transition.  9 

And 1998 was the last year that we applied any 10 

chemicals to any of our fields.  And so in 2000, we 11 

were certified organic on part of our acreage and then 12 

the whole farm in 2001.   13 

  And our yields for the most part were, as 14 

Bill said, very similar on soybeans, but our corn 15 

yields were probably 10 to 20 percent less in organic 16 

during the transition time.  But we were able to 17 

completely implement our rotation during that 18 

transition time.  And so we’ve had alfalfa and clover, 19 

where we would plow that down for our corn then for 20 

organic production.  And we began to see our yields 21 

increase then as we went into organic probably about 22 

the fourth year that we were organic --- or from 23 

transition to when we were organic. 24 

  And we've grown the organic aspect of our 25 
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operation, which is our whole farm, and we also rent 1 

an additional 40 acres.  And what we've done for our 2 

marketing of our crops is we're marketing almost of 3 

them direct to other farms, either in the form of a 4 

complete poultry feed or a ground feed for dairies 5 

that are becoming more popular, organic dairies, in 6 

our area.   7 

  And so we've gotten to the point now 8 

where I was at the time in the '90s working away from 9 

the farm 40 hours a week as a commercial floor 10 

technician and was able to quit my job when I became 11 

organic.  And we're to the point now where with 12 

basically the same amount of acreage we're making a 13 

very good living, and there's opportunities, I 14 

believe, for my youngest son who is interested in 15 

farming to come along and grow with us and join this 16 

operation.  So it's been very positive that way.  And 17 

the bottom line --- and hopefully if this works out, 18 

the next generation will be able to continue to see, 19 

you know, the farm in our family and see it grow and 20 

prosper with organics.   21 

  So I guess that's it.  Thank you. 22 

  CHAIRMAN: 23 

  Thank you.  Go ahead, sir. 24 

  MR. STRICKER: 25 
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  Hello, my name is Forrest Stricker.  I'm 1 

from Berks County.  I'm about ten miles west of 2 

Reading in the little town of Wernersville.  We run a 3 

300-acre organic dairy farm.  We have about 130 cows, 4 

about 60, 70 replacements, about 200 head of cattle.  5 

We do sell certified organic milk.   6 

  We did transition back in 1996.  We 7 

started turning the pastures.  We primarily grow hay 8 

in the pasture, and we were growing some grains back 9 

at that time, but due to reducing machinery, we 10 

strictly just went back to hay equipment because we 11 

needed all the forage for our cows and decided to 12 

purchase the grain.  13 

  the transition period was --- let me just 14 

back up a little bit.  I grew up as a conventional 15 

farmer.  My father was conventional.  And to just to 16 

share with you a little bit of the challenges when you 17 

decide to go organic, my father had said to me, 18 

Forrest, you're going to lose the farm.  So there 19 

wasn't a lot of support there, and my wife wasn't very 20 

supportive either.  And she's from more a conventional 21 

mindset.  So there was some real challenges to a 22 

farmer.  It was mentioned earlier, you know, how 23 

difficult it is for a farmer to go conventional (sic). 24 

You have to face some psychological barriers, too. 25 
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  But my reason for going organic was 1 

stewardship, one.  I wanted to be a better steward of 2 

the land.  I wanted to improve the environment.  I did 3 

not like handling chemicals, pesticides, herbicides.  4 

I remember going to those meetings and you had to 5 

dress up like a spaceman with suits and gloves and 6 

everything.  This is just --- this is just not the way 7 

I want to farm.  It's not what I want to expose my 8 

family to or my neighbors to.  And also, with the 9 

health of the cows, we were seeing we had to use more 10 

antibiotics.  There was more mastitis.  In the fields 11 

we had to use more herbicides.  You know, insects and 12 

weeds were resistant to this and that, and I just --- 13 

there has to be a better way.   14 

  So we started pursuing the biological and 15 

the organic method through The Rodale Institute.  16 

They've been a big help to me.  PASA, Pennsylvania 17 

Sustainable Agriculture, and other sources.  And that 18 

was the reason for going down the organic route. 19 

  We do have employees, two full time, some 20 

part-time.  Some of the biggest challenges on organic 21 

farming is nitrogen, as these men have alluded to, and 22 

is even a problem in grass farming.  We try to keep as 23 

many clovers in our patches as we can.  But due to 24 

weather conditions or early frosts in March, the 25 
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clover has been taken out.  And so we have to refer to 1 

chicken manure and things like that.  And that becomes 2 

an issue with the phosphorus levels and nutrient plans 3 

and things like that.  So nitrogen is a challenge, and 4 

we try to overcome that by growing a lot of legumes in 5 

our pastures. 6 

  We also --- I do have a raw milk permit. 7 

We do have many families.  Many mothers have come to 8 

me about looking for certified organic raw milk.  So 9 

we obtained a raw milk permit, and we do --- probably 10 

about 12 families come in and get milk right off the 11 

farm.  That pretty much covers it. 12 

  CHAIRMAN: 13 

  Thank you.  And Joe, I guess you're next. 14 

  MR. FISHER: 15 

  Yeah.  I'm Joe Fisher from southern 16 

Lancaster County of Pennsylvania.  I'm one of those 17 

farmers like you see in the calendar there out in the 18 

field with the horses, although I don't plow.  I use 19 

the roller which Rodale Institute started, and this 20 

will be my third year on that. 21 

  And I guess what started me organic, I 22 

was conventional for nine years, and it's not what I 23 

wanted to do, handling the chemicals and everything. 24 

And my wife really pushed the organic.  So I kind of 25 
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--- I grew up conventional, and I started looking at 1 

organic methods.  And I kind of frowned about it, and 2 

after a while, it started a little bit and it got more 3 

and more and more and it saw it was working here.  And 4 

finally, I seen my neighbors all no-till and I said, 5 

boy, they got something here.  I wanted to do it, but 6 

I'm organic.  I can't use the pesticides or herbicides 7 

or all of that.   8 

  So I started out with planting wheat and 9 

tried the no-till.  That was a failure, seven acres of 10 

it.  Started up, and there was no funds out there to 11 

cover it, so it came out of my pocket.  So I went in 12 

the seed book and I seen that had something on vetch, 13 

and I called the guys up and they told me to call 14 

Steve Groff from Holtwood, which he's no-till for I 15 

think 20-some years.  And he said, well, if you're 16 

organic, call Rodale.   17 

  So I started calling them there, and Jeff 18 

Moyer, he helped me out on that.  I bought a roller 19 

like that and --- well, I guess to back up there.  I 20 

seen I got to have nitrogen with the wheat.  It's just 21 

straight wheat.  It took all the nitrogen out.  And so 22 

I made --- it was a failure there.  I lost some money 23 

there.  And what I did see over the years going into 24 

organic --- I certified in '05.  So I seen stuff was 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

85

really coming around.  I lost yield.  The first year 1 

was the most.  I guess second year was a little 2 

better.  And now, we're going --- it's coming up 3 

higher every year as we learn how to handle that. 4 

  And so we started into the vetch.  Last 5 

year was my second year in vetch, and I really seen 6 

the corn's really coming around to that.  We had some 7 

good yields in some fields last year and we're pretty 8 

happy about it, so ---.   9 

  And then Dave Kessler came down there to 10 

see me.  I guess Jeff Moyer told him to come down and 11 

look at it, and so we're out there talking for what, 12 

two hours?  And he told me to come up here and talk to 13 

the other guys, so this is where I'm at. 14 

  Also, on production of cows, we'd been 15 

running at right around 20,000, 21,000.  When we made 16 

the switch to organic, we dropped down to 17,000, and 17 

we started slowly coming up.  Now, we're up to 19,000 18 

and still climbing.  So I think as we get into that 19 

and we learn how to handle that, I think we're going 20 

to go up and actually surpass our old numbers, which 21 

we had in conventional.  I was just talking to an 22 

organic farmer that's been in it for a little longer 23 

than I am, and he up to 23,000 now and he said hardly 24 

any health problems.  They just --- virtually just 25 
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disappeared.  My vet was in last --- two times last 1 

year the whole year for the herd.  You know, I used to 2 

get him in two, three, four, five times a month.  And 3 

he said --- you know, one time he come in and said, 4 

what's going on.  And I told him, you know, how this 5 

is working, so that's the kind of story that will 6 

happen there. 7 

  CHAIRMAN: 8 

  Thank you all.  I'm can only start by 9 

saying I'm most impressed.  I guess I came in with a 10 

little bit of a preconceived notion that there was a 11 

financial motive in going organic and that that was 12 

what was driving a lot of farmers in that direction.  13 

And, of course, hearing from all of you and 14 

understanding that in a lot of cases it has more to do 15 

with health concerns, being good stewards of the land 16 

and health concerns, not just yourself, but for your 17 

livestock and for your customers, it certainly is 18 

educational for me to get a better perspective on what 19 

a lot of the motivators are for organic farming. 20 

  I think if not all of you at least three 21 

of you mentioned the Rodale roller.  Does everybody 22 

use that roller? 23 

  I'd just be interested a little bit in 24 

one of the things that we heard when we visited 25 
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Rodale, and it's one of the gains in the organic 1 

farming and particularly with the use of the roller, 2 

that ultimately there should be some fuel savings over 3 

conventional farming and that you're not going over 4 

the fields as many times.  And I'd be interested in 5 

those of you who are using the roller if that's been 6 

your experience.  I suspect there's been tremendous 7 

savings with the horses.   8 

  MR. FISHER: 9 

  Yeah, though it takes a little grain to 10 

feed them, though.  And if you look at biofuel, it's 11 

pretty much a change off there. 12 

  CHAIRMAN: 13 

  So your prices have gone up, too. 14 

  MR. FISHER: 15 

  No.  I can manage that.  You know, I can 16 

grow my own.  But like I said, David was saying 17 

something about guys wanting to go into organic.  I 18 

have quite a few neighbors or guys in my area that 19 

would like to go organic, but they're seeing the big 20 

risk there.  You know, I see what you've done.  You 21 

made a yield loss and milk loss a couple years and 22 

they said, I can't afford to go through that.  I 23 

can't, you know.  So they just --- they'd love to, but 24 

then they just kind of keep on going the way they are. 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

88

They don't trust themselves making that change.  But I 1 

still say coming back to where I am now I almost made 2 

up the money I lost already, just by the savings in 3 

like the vet bills in the herd and ways like that.  4 

It's just coming back.  The cows are coming up in 5 

production.  I save the money on, you know, health 6 

problems like that, and it's just coming around.  My 7 

cull rate is way down.  The one year I run an eight 8 

percent cull rate.  Putting cows in replacements is  9 

--- you know, it's a big expense.   10 

  So a lot of that --- and the corn yield's 11 

coming up.  Last year I had --- I got a hired boy 12 

there a couple days a week and we fill the silo, we 13 

handle the corn a little from the tractor farmers.  14 

And we opened up the land that he stood back and 15 

looked at the corn and said, Joe, are you crazy.  I 16 

said why, what's --- I don't know.  He said, the 17 

corn's crazy tall.  And that was the best field we had 18 

on the vetch with the roller.  And it was very 19 

impressive what it looks like what's going to happen 20 

with that roller.  You know, the carbon cycle's coming 21 

up.  The moisture --- it holds the moisture there.  22 

It's amazing what's going on.  23 

  The one thing that really got me excited 24 

about the cover is in '05 we had a drought through the 25 
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fall.  In October about the 9th or 10th, we got seven 1 

inches of rain in one bang.  And without any cover on 2 

the ground, this all left.  And just before the rain, 3 

I dug out the potatoes in the garden.  And my wife, 4 

she'd go along and mulch the potatoes with slices of 5 

hay between the rows.  And she said, they're calling 6 

for a lot of rain.  You better get them out before it 7 

rains. So I did that, and I started digging.   8 

  Well, to back up a little bit, my 9 

neighbors just graved a pony.  They have a pet 10 

cemetery and he said, I dug six foot with the backhoe 11 

and he said it was bone dry, dust dry.  I don't think 12 

we had any rain --- hardly any rain through July and 13 

August and September.  The corn was practically drying 14 

up.  And I went to dig out potatoes with this mulch 15 

layer on there, and there was moisture there and a 16 

good bit of it.  And I said, if there's some way to 17 

get that in my field, I'm going to be drought proof.  18 

There's --- you know, it's going to save the crops big 19 

time.  So I really tried to start working on that, and 20 

I --- I'm getting excited about it every day. 21 

  CHAIRMAN: 22 

  Thank you, Joe.  And Mr. Mason? 23 

  MR. MASON: 24 

  I'd like to make a couple other comments, 25 
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but one about the roller in particular.  What we did 1 

try, we had several people from our soil conversation 2 

come out.  And we have some pictures of it, and I 3 

meant to bring them today, but I forgot.  But it's a 4 

pretty neat process.  After you roll the field, some 5 

of the cover crop springs back up a little bit, but 6 

the cover crop starts to turn brown just as if you had 7 

sprayed it with a chemical.  And a week later the 8 

beans pop up.  And it's pretty unique. 9 

  But a couple other comments.  I know you 10 

mention cover crop before, and cover crop is a major 11 

expense.  It's also very important in the organic 12 

industry.  In fact, I've heard people, and I've 13 

repeated several times, I think the cover crop is as 14 

important as the crop you're growing for grain.  I 15 

know Jeff mentioned that. 16 

  And along with other seeds, all seeds 17 

have gone up, and the cover crop is a fairly expensive 18 

issue.  Now, in Maryland, we have a cover crop program 19 

there where they cost-share some of that expense with 20 

the farmers, and that's a help.  Even though we use 21 

cover crop on just about all of our farm, but it's a 22 

help. 23 

  Also, in Maryland through NRCS, Maryland 24 

does have the transition to organic program, and 25 
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they've had it for quite a few years.  And I am 1 

involved with that.  I'm getting a cost-share on part 2 

of my acres.  And I know it’s probably the same all 3 

over the country, I assume, but we can up to $150 per 4 

acre as a cost-share payment if we harvest grain.  If 5 

you put it in hay and do not harvest the hay, you can 6 

get up to $300 per acres for the three years. 7 

  So I think my general opinion is because 8 

of the prices of conventional grain has risen 9 

dramatically in the past year --- I think any 10 

conventional farmer that had any inclination of going 11 

organic is now not going to do that because of the 12 

price increase in grain.  Of course, the price of 13 

conventional fertilizers and pesticides have risen 14 

dramatically also.  But I think a bill like Dave has 15 

here or something that would help the farmers 16 

transition over that three-year period because of some 17 

drop in the yield has been discussed and not to put a 18 

burden on you, but it is real. 19 

  And most farmers --- speaking from my own 20 

experience, if I came up to you and said I'm going to 21 

take 25 percent of your income this year for three 22 

years, you wouldn't like that.  And it would be hard 23 

to operate a farm taking that loss.  And so the added 24 

benefit of getting some financial assistance I think 25 
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would be great to help farmers make that jump. Thank 1 

you. 2 

  CHAIRMAN: 3 

  Thank you, Mr. Mason.  We'll start with 4 

Dave this time with questions.  Dave? 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 6 

  Thank you.  Bucky, I have to call you 7 

that.  You mentioned I think it was in 2005 you had 8 

told me when there was a drought.  How did your crops 9 

perform in that year? 10 

  MR. ZIEGLER: 11 

  2005, I'm not sure.  You might have been 12 

mixing it up with 2007. 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 14 

  Was it 2007? 15 

  MR. ZIEGLER: 16 

  This past season was probably the most 17 

moisture deficit summer our area has had in a long 18 

time.  It was worse than 2005.  But we had --- our 19 

corn yields this past year averaged 98 bushels an 20 

acre.  And our whole farm average, you know, over to 21 

even being organic or conventional usually runs about 22 

120 to 130.  So we really did very well in this past 23 

season, and I have to credit the sod that we are 24 

tilling into the soil as our primary moisture holding 25 
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capacity we're building up in our soils. 1 

  2005 was a year that was very dry as 2 

well.  The timing of the drought was a little 3 

different.  And that was one of our worst years ever 4 

as far as our overall corn yield.  But I'm not sure 5 

why that was.  You know, it was one of those years 6 

that even the no-till farmers around us had, you know, 7 

suffered tremendously.  And so you know, just --- but 8 

2007 was our super year as far as a drought goes.  And 9 

if we can have normal rains with our organic practices 10 

even that we had in place, I think we're going to do 11 

really well. 12 

  One point I'd like to bring out is in the 13 

discussion of the roller/crimper.  I've kind of been 14 

watching it over the last few years and trying to keep 15 

up with some of the reports that have come out with 16 

the roller/crimper going to different farms across the 17 

country with the grant monies that were awarded 18 

nationally.  And, you know, I saw some --- we see some 19 

reports that they were pretty successful and other 20 

reports that they weren't so successful.  And I guess 21 

I have kind of a little bit of a hang-up as to putting 22 

the kind of money that I would have to have to buy 23 

equipment to do it, when I'm not sure that it's going 24 

to work, you know, 90 percent of the time.   25 
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  But on the other hand, I'm seeing 1 

conventionally it doesn't work 90 percent of the time. 2 

You know, sometimes you have good years and sometimes 3 

you don't, but I think as Joe pointed out the 4 

roller/crimper is --- as I see it and the main benefit 5 

I can see from it on my farm would be the drought 6 

resistance.  I really believe that would --- that 7 

would pay for it I really would.   8 

  So I'm very excited about seeing it and 9 

maybe seeing some reports, and I'm very encouraged 10 

talking to Joe before the hearing here today with --- 11 

you know, I had some ideas that he blew out of the 12 

water. So maybe I need to take a harder look at this 13 

roller/crimper thing, and I guess I would like to see, 14 

as Leslie pointed out, perhaps some funds coming from 15 

the state or somewhere that we could cost-share that 16 

equipment for us guys that are already organic. 17 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 18 

  Thank you.  Bill, question for you.  You 19 

have the roller and you have attached it to a tractor. 20 

Do you need a special tractor in order to attach the 21 

roller, or can you take a typical tractor and attach 22 

the roller? 23 

  MR. MASON: 24 

  Dave, to put it on the front of the 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

95

tractor you need a three-point hitch attachment to go 1 

on the front.  I know I&J is making them to fit on the 2 

front of a loader.  And I can tell you from my own 3 

experience, I --- the first year I mounted it on the 4 

front of a snowplow that was bolted to the tractor.  I 5 

took the blade off the front and mounted the roller to 6 

that.  So there's several different ways of hooking it 7 

up.  It also can be pulled, even though I don't think 8 

Rodale really commends that because your tractor runs 9 

over the grain before it’s rolled.  It's really better 10 

to push it.  But there's several ways that you can 11 

mount it on the front. 12 

  One other thing that you --- Mr. 13 

Chairman, you did ask it.  The no-till is a fairly 14 

large cost savings to us where you --- the first year 15 

where we --- where we generally plow the ground, work 16 

it a couple times, plant it, rotary hoe it, cultivate 17 

it and then harvest.  Whereas with the no-till aspect, 18 

you can go there and basically plant it in one 19 

operation and then you harvest it.  So it saves you  20 

--- we're making about eight trips across the field 21 

conventionally versus maybe one or two trips with  22 

no-till.  So it saves a lot of time and labor.  And a 23 

lot of times, I know in my instance my dad helps me, 24 

but that's all the help I have and the no-till helps, 25 
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you know, me get work down quicker and it's a great 1 

savings. 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 3 

  So the roller can be attached to any 4 

typical tractor? 5 

  MR. MASON: 6 

  Any typical tractor you could buy a three 7 

point hitch for the front for.  But that would be an 8 

additional, you know, expense, Dave. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 10 

  Okay.  Thank you.  Joe, question for you. 11 

You're using the roller effectively I understand.  The 12 

roller, your --- can you just talk about what you're 13 

growing and when you're growing it and when you knock 14 

it down with the roller and how it dies off and your 15 

corn comes through? 16 

  MR. FISHER: 17 

  Yeah.  I usually plant vetch in the fall, 18 

and last year I had stray vetch and that didn't work 19 

the best.  I had good corn yield, but we had some 20 

weeds in with it.  It wasn't what I call weed 21 

pressure, though there was some there.  Now, this year 22 

we're putting the wheat and vetch or rye and vetch.  23 

We have a couple different ones.  Now, I call my own 24 

farm just an experimental farm, even though we got 90 25 
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acres.  It still call it an experimental farm because 1 

I like to play.  I tell people I don't like to work, I 2 

like to play. 3 

  So doing all kinds of things is pretty 4 

interesting to me.  So then the vetch, I --- last fall 5 

my best ones were planted the middle of October.  And 6 

the guys usually say plant it, you know, by the middle 7 

of the September.  That did not work for me.  It got 8 

too big and kind of suffocated itself.  And then the 9 

spring this stuff goes wild.  It's growing out of 10 

there right now.  It's just going wild.  And usually 11 

by the end of May we roll it down and plant corn into 12 

it. 13 

  Now, a problem we had in the past was get 14 

big enough polders (phonetic) to cut through that 15 

mulch layer so the seed gets into the soil.  Now, 16 

Packway Planter come out this year what they call 17 

slicers.  They having the same problem with 18 

conventional in their rye.  It's not --- they call 19 

hair pinning.  Seeds going out and pushes the rye down 20 

in where the polder goes and then the seed just goes  21 

--- drops into the rye and won’t --- doesn't sprout 22 

right. It doesn't have seed-to-soil contact, so 23 

they're coming out with slicers and they hope that’s 24 

going to take care of that.  25 
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  And then with the heavy layer of mulch on 1 

there like that it seems to be building up a lot of 2 

carbon, which is very important to hold --- even 3 

though we're organic we don’t put on the chemicals.  4 

If conventional would have a higher carbon level in 5 

the soil, they would have less nitrates going in the 6 

ground water and they would also drought-proof their 7 

crop a little more.  But the guys the whole way around 8 

here, they're conventional no-till and they're out 9 

spraying it right now and it ain't very tall yet.  And 10 

by the middle of summer or earlier, that crop is all 11 

gone.   12 

  And that's one thing I was trying to --- 13 

trying to improve on that and that until I got onto 14 

vetch, rye or wheat.  It kind of solved the problem on 15 

that. I still --- in the fall, I still have like a 16 

three quarter inch of cover on the ground.  If it 17 

rains, there's no soil erosion.  The water's just 18 

clear coming off my fields.  And I have a good bit of 19 

slope. Like you seen out there when you were out, it's 20 

just --- it's just clear.   21 

  And with no chemicals and stuff in there, 22 

I'd dare drink it it's that clean.  So you know, 23 

that's kind of what's going on with this cover crop.  24 

It's just --- there's still a lot of more things than 25 
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I thought when I started into it and you see more and 1 

more stuff happening with it. 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 3 

  Thank you. 4 

  CHAIRMAN: 5 

  Representative Keller? 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE KELLER: 7 

  Thank you.  This is for Forrest and Joe. 8 

I want to talk about dairy herding.  You know, I 9 

assume that both of you went through the transition to 10 

--- from conventional to the organic.  My question to 11 

you is this, your fat content, your somatic cell, your 12 

bacteria, what happened or was there any difference? 13 

  MR. STRICKER: 14 

  The fat content, protein content, the 15 

solids in the milk would have increased, and for the 16 

same reason that Joe's did.  We didn't want --- we 17 

were concerned about health in organics.  We don't 18 

want to have to use antibiotics.  We don't have to use 19 

a lot of medications.  So we don't want to stress the 20 

cow.  So the big thing is build a strong immune system 21 

to maintain a healthy cow.  So we allowed milk 22 

production to slip so the cow wasn't as stressed by, 23 

you know, a lot of grain and pushing a lot of milk out 24 

of her.  So therefore, our fat and protein did go up. 25 
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  Somatic cell count, we might have 1 

struggled with that a little bit at first, and now 2 

it's somewhere in the 200,000 range.  It's done real 3 

well.  And as we've seen --- with organic, we've seen 4 

that the herd health increased. 5 

  MR. FISHER: 6 

  That's exactly what I've seen.  The 7 

somatic cell was up when I made the transition.  Now, 8 

just like he said, it's down to 200,000.  It's doing 9 

pretty good.  And I still think the higher fat and 10 

protein, some of it's coming out of a better nutrition 11 

feed that's coming off of better ground.  It seems to 12 

be getting better all the time.  So I had a 4-3 test 13 

this winter for the first time.  I never it before.  14 

And milk production is still coming up, so something's 15 

going on there.  I don't know where it's coming from, 16 

but something's going on. 17 

  REPRESENTATIVE KELLER: 18 

  So it’s definitely positive.  Thank you. 19 

  CHAIRMAN: 20 

  Representative Moul? 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 22 

  Just real quick.  Maybe too quick.  Did 23 

you gentlemen have to convert your whole farm at one 24 

time, or could you convert your farm in sections? 25 
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  MR. FISHER: 1 

  You could probably convert in sections, 2 

but for my operation it wouldn't work because I need 3 

all of my forages or my feeds to go to my certified 4 

organic cows, or I'm going to have to buy.  And if 5 

there's a section not certified, I'd have to sell it 6 

because I wouldn't have anything to do with it. 7 

  MR. STRICKER: 8 

  Yes.  We certified our whole farm also.  9 

And then as we rented land, we transitioned that and 10 

brought it in.  But generally it was the whole farm at 11 

one time. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 13 

  Is it a must? 14 

  MR. STRICKER: 15 

  No, it's not a must.  No. 16 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 17 

  You can do part of your farm.  It's not 18 

an all or nothing deal?  Okay. 19 

  MR. STICKER: 20 

  No.  You'd have to set up a buffer area 21 

between the conventional and the organic. 22 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 23 

  Okay.  That was where I was going.  One 24 

other.  How much does this roller/crimper cost? 25 
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  MR. FISHER: 1 

  I paid $2,800 for mine. 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 3 

  So it's not very ---? 4 

  MR. FISHER: 5 

  No.  The tractor guy would probably want 6 

a ten --- Jeff, how big? 7 

  MR. MOYER: 8 

  Right now, a ten-foot version costs right 9 

around $3,000. 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 11 

  So it's not an expensive piece of 12 

equipment. 13 

  MR. MOYER: 14 

  But it's still --- they're making --- you 15 

can make it any size.  There's 30-foot rollers out 16 

there obviously that cost a little more. 17 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 18 

  I understand.  Okay.  Thank you. 19 

  CHAIRMAN: 20 

  Thank you.  I think that wraps up our 21 

questions for this panel.  And we certainly appreciate 22 

your testimony.  It’s been very enlightening.  And we 23 

--- I think it will help the committee tremendously.  24 

Your on-the-ground experiences, if you will, are very 25 
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helpful to us.  So thank you. 1 

  And our next presenter --- our next 2 

presenter is Terry Brett, owner of Kimberton Whole 3 

Foods.  And while Terry's coming forward, let me just 4 

say that I'm interested --- and I'm not looking for an 5 

answer to this question right now, but I would like to 6 

have an answer to this question within the next couple 7 

weeks.  It's my understanding that the no-till 8 

equipment does qualify for the REAP Program.  Does the 9 

roller/crimper qualify for the REAP Program, and if 10 

not, what should we --- it certainly strikes me as 11 

something that should qualify because of its impact on 12 

runoff in particular.  Maybe it's something that we 13 

need to look at before the --- okay. 14 

OFF RECORD DISCUSSION 15 

  CHAIRMAN: 16 

  All right.  That's the answer we wanted 17 

to hear.  All right.  Mr. Brett, let me turn it over 18 

to you.  And before you start, let me just say I have 19 

to apologize.  I have an obligation to speak at a 20 

dinner this evening, and it’s I'm not how far away 21 

since ---. So I may have to leave before we get to all 22 

of our presenters.  If that's the case, I apologize to 23 

you for that, and I'll call on the committee 24 

secretary, Dave Kessler, to take over the chairing of 25 
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the meeting at that point.  But let me apologize in 1 

advance if I do have to duck out.  But Mr. Brett, let 2 

me turn it over to you and let you present your 3 

testimony.  Thank you. 4 

  MR. BRETT: 5 

  Thank you, Chairman Hanna, Representative 6 

Kessler and members of the Agriculture Committee.  7 

It's an honor to be here to be able to speak on behalf 8 

of organic farming. 9 

  Presently, I'm the owner of a small chain 10 

of organic natural foods grocery stores.  We have 11 

three stores, one in the town of Kimberton.  They're 12 

all in Pennsylvania, the other one in Douglassville, 13 

which isn't far from here, and the third is in 14 

Downingtown.  And we're planning on opening two more 15 

this year, one in the City of Lancaster and another in 16 

upper Bucks County north of Doylestown.  17 

  Briefly, the history of our expansion is, 18 

we started out as a farm store on a 400-acre organic 19 

bio-dynamic dairy farm, which is in northern Chester 20 

County.  The farm had been organic since 1972.  It was 21 

in the trusteeship of a nonprofit, a private school, 22 

and it was --- according to the treasurer, the school 23 

was losing probably about $100,000 a year because at 24 

that particular point --- through the time in the late 25 
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'70s and early '80s the organic market, as far as 1 

getting organic products to market, really hadn't 2 

developed an infrastructure. 3 

  Through a grant from the Glenmede Pew 4 

Charitable Trust, a small farm store and a processing 5 

building was built on the farm and I was hired along 6 

with my wife to create a farm store so we could sell 7 

things directly to the public and also primarily to 8 

create a value-added product which was decided to be 9 

yogurt.   10 

  At the time that we started the store and 11 

I started the yogurt program, I believe the base price 12 

for milk was about $13 a hundred weight.  And I 13 

believe it took us about a year to figure it out it 14 

was costing us about $25 a hundred weight to produce 15 

the organic milk, which when you sell it for $13 you 16 

can see how much money you were losing. 17 

  We created the organic product.  It had 18 

an instance success in the market.  We were only 19 

milking between 32 and 40 cows.  Prior to our taking 20 

over the operation, the whole operation had really 21 

gone downhill as far as the management of the 22 

operation.  But by being able to take what was already 23 

an organic product, although not being able to be 24 

marketing as one, we were able to double the price of 25 
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the milk.  So even in ’86 --- it was probably by ‘88 1 

because I was a business person on the farm we were 2 

able to pay the farm in our internal mechanism for 3 

accounting $25 a hundred weight and put that in as a 4 

cost for our yogurt and then make a profit on the 5 

yogurt on top of that, and that profit by doing a 6 

value added, plus paying the farm the price that we 7 

had established it really cost to produce the milk, 8 

was really what was able to turn the farm around and 9 

essentially begin the long process of rebuilding the 10 

infrastructure, the farm, the barns, the fencing.  I 11 

mean, it wasn't uncommon to see cows running all over 12 

the neighborhood.  They be coming over the hill.  13 

They'd be on the golf course.  It was a nightmare.  It 14 

stopped when you're surrounding by all development. 15 

  Over the seven-year period in doing the 16 

yogurt and the farm store, we had built up about a 17 

million dollar a year business on the farm with farm 18 

products, by fleshing it out in the natural foods 19 

marketplace.  And I would say since 1986, the organic 20 

marketplace has just grown, you know, double digits 21 

every year.  I think it had been mentioned earlier 22 

that it was up like 20 percent annually at least for 23 

the last year.  We have certainly seen that.  We've 24 

ridden that for the 22 years that we've been in 25 
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business. 1 

  Because we started on the farm, I'm an 2 

ardent farmer.  I can't wait to actually be done with 3 

business so I can go back to farming and get into 4 

farming myself.  I got property in Virginia which I 5 

want to get involved in and probably get one of these 6 

roller/crimpers and get out there and start playing 7 

too just like Joe was talking about.  It's not 8 

working, but it's playing. 9 

  But we've maintained a commitment to 10 

buying as much as we can from local organic farms.  11 

And so I have some numbers here for you just to, you 12 

know, show you what the --- I think it will illustrate 13 

the value added for people who --- who on smaller 14 

scale farms compared to conventional ones can actually 15 

make a decent living.   16 

  Bucky, you know, testified to the fact 17 

that originally, you know, he was 40 hours a week off 18 

the farm.  Now, he's on the farm all the time, and 19 

he's been able to make money.  And I think the organic 20 

transition and the organic market will allow the 21 

farming community and the --- I would say the culture 22 

behind people who are raised on farms and would like 23 

to stay on farms, probably offers the best opportunity 24 

for our communities and for our local agriculture to 25 
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stay in agriculture and not go the way of other 1 

conventional farms, the only way to make it is to get 2 

bigger and bigger and just being taking over in many 3 

situations by corporate entities.   4 

  So I think there's a lot of additional 5 

benefit to the organic movement in addition to all of 6 

the other things that have been stated.  It's actually 7 

the saving of the family farm and making it that they 8 

could actually be somewhat small. 9 

  Today on the farm, Seven Stars Farm, 10 

because we left the farm after seven years because 11 

we've gotten too big for the facility and we didn't 12 

have the zoning to build a big store on the farm.  13 

That's not what farms are for and not to drive a lot 14 

of traffic out there.  So we moved off the farm about 15 

a mile away into a little village. And as I said 16 

before, you know, we've expanded to three stores and 17 

we have an ongoing commitment to get bigger so that we 18 

can stay in the marketplace to be able to support the 19 

local farm community.  We're very fortunate to be 20 

close to --- even northern Chester County there are 21 

two 400-acre organic farms nearby, one of which is 22 

where we came from.  Plus, Lancaster County is a huge 23 

producer of diversified organic products. 24 

  The Seven Stars Farm right now converts 25 
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about 1.3 million pounds of organic milk locally 1 

produced into yogurt.  It's distributed from Maine to 2 

Florida, all through the Midwest and some of it 3 

actually goes out to the West Coast.  If it was a 4 

conventional product, that would never happen, you 5 

know.  It's based on the farm.  It creates local 6 

employment, and it's created a thriving economy right 7 

there of the Seven Stars Farm.   8 

  And the product's called Seven Stars 9 

Organic Yogurt.  They also purchase from across the 10 

creek a majority of the milk from that farm to add 11 

because they can't produce enough milk on the farm.  12 

They don't want to be --- they're up to milking about 13 

70 cows now.  And they also purchase more milk from 14 

LAFCO, which is the Lancaster County Cooperative, when 15 

they need to go out for surplus milk. 16 

  We purchase --- as far as some numbers 17 

for the local operations, we sell --- most of our 18 

fluid milk we sell is raw milk and from the local 19 

dairy, which is two miles up the road, I guess we 20 

purchased over 100,000 pounds of --- I'm speaking in 21 

the pound level for the agriculture community. 12,000 22 

gallons of raw milk we sold through our stores last 23 

year.  And the value to that farm was over $60,000.  24 

Now, they get it direct.  They're only two miles away. 25 
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They bring it to our main store.  We self distribute. 1 

And the average cost that we pay is over $5 a gallon 2 

to them.  So I think I translated that into about $58 3 

a hundred weight is what they're getting for that. 4 

  The Seven Stars Yogurt, which we now 5 

purchase, because we're a separate entity from the 6 

farm, you know, our wholesale volume from them alone 7 

was $36,000 last year.  Eberly's which is a processor 8 

of organic poultry in Lancaster County, we purchased 9 

over $55,000 of organic chicken, $10,000 of 10 

organically-produced turkey.  From several beef 11 

operations in Lancaster County and then also a county 12 

north of Harrisburg, I don't know what that county's 13 

name --- we purchased about $35,000 worth of beef at 14 

the wholesale level.  Natural by Nature, which is a 15 

company that kind of inspired the Lancaster Farm 16 

Cooperative and I think processes most of the milk 17 

from that cooperative, we buy about $32,000 worth of 18 

fluid milk from them.   19 

  We purchase directly from two organic 20 

farms, one in Bucks County and another in Lancaster 21 

County, $60,000 worth of organically-produced eggs.  22 

And the average cost to us for those eggs, and again 23 

it goes direct to the farm, is about $2.40 a dozen.  24 

So you compare the surplus --- you know, the premium 25 
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you get at $2.40 a dozen or $5 a gallon of milk, it's 1 

really big.  Perhaps the cost of production might be a 2 

little higher, but they're certainly getting, I think, 3 

a super premium and our customers are really happy to 4 

pay those prices.   5 

  And that's why we're --- we're being 6 

called from different places to open our stores 7 

because we want to bring these locally-produced 8 

organic products to the market.  And there's a 9 

tremendous demand out there.  I mean, we're up 30 10 

percent over last year.  So you know --- and I think 11 

by all accounts we're going into a recession, so the 12 

market is definitely there.   13 

  I think that's what Representative 14 

Kessler wanted me here to testify to let you know that 15 

it is there.  You know, it's been really a part of our 16 

growth and it's really our mission to be out there to 17 

be the end --- you know, unless you're going to sell 18 

right off the farm, you need to go through, you know, 19 

some sort of a distribution outlet.  And we're just 20 

proud to be part of that and are dedicated to kind of 21 

expanding that so that ---.  Yeah, we're just glad to 22 

be doing that.  And so I'll just be brief because it's 23 

been a long afternoon. 24 

  CHAIRMAN: 25 
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  Well, thank you.  Just quickly, you're 1 

not unique.  There are --- you have competitors out 2 

there in the marketplace as well? 3 

  MR. BRETT: 4 

  Yeah.  I mean, our primary --- 5 

fortunately, we've grown to the size that we can be 6 

competitive with --- with the gigantic supermarket 7 

chain, with Wegmans.  It's really becoming much more 8 

mainstream.  I think one of the differences you would 9 

see with us is that we're --- our dedication to going 10 

straight to the farm when we can and we have the 11 

opportunity in our area.  We're very fortunate to have 12 

so many organic operations within driving distance of 13 

our store.  Because of our volume and grocery is a 14 

volume-based business, we are the largest independent 15 

natural foods/organic foods store operation in the 16 

state, which really isn't saying much because there's 17 

a lot of food sold every day and we do about $10 18 

million a year, or about that size.  If you put all 19 

the footprints of our three stores together, I was 20 

just figuring we're about one fifth the size with all 21 

three of our stores of one regular supermarket. 22 

  But yeah, we do have competition out 23 

there, but we're big enough and dedicated enough to be 24 

able to compete. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN: 1 

  Representative Keller? 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE KELLER: 3 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you again 4 

for your testimony.  It put some perspective on 5 

things, and I'm glad to here that.  I just want to 6 

make a couple statements.  Unfortunately, 7 

Representative Moul and I have to head back north to 8 

events that we have this evening.  But I want to make 9 

an observation here. 10 

  And first of all, I want to thank 11 

Representative Kessler for pulling this together with 12 

a real stellar group of information provided.  But in 13 

that observation, I have some real concerns that I 14 

would ask the Chairman if he would consider that we 15 

continue on with this and that the Pennsylvania 16 

Department of Agriculture becomes a part of it, 17 

because as reading through the legislation there's a 18 

lot of responsibilities that the Department of 19 

Agriculture has to take, you know, and do.   20 

  And also, you know, we have a college 21 

that is very well versed in agriculture and I think 22 

that it would be advantageous for us as members of 23 

this committee to bring Penn State into the picture 24 

also because I think they have the expertise in 25 
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organic farming and other types of farming that we can 1 

rely on them also.   2 

  So you know, I certainly thank you, 3 

Representative Kessler, for pulling this together, but 4 

I am encouraging the Chairman of the committee to take 5 

that under consideration that the Pennsylvania 6 

Department of Agriculture does become a portion of 7 

this and we can here from them also, along with the 8 

Penn State University.  Thank you. 9 

  CHAIRMAN: 10 

  Thank you, Representative Keller.  And we 11 

certainly intend to do all of that, and we appreciate 12 

your insight on that.  Representative Moul? 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 14 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I have one 15 

quick question.  What's going to happen when we have 16 

an abundance of organic farmers producing organic 17 

food, and especially with the cost of everything else 18 

in our lives going through the roof, they're now 19 

switched over and this niche is oversupplied so to 20 

speak?  Now, they can --- they can switch back, but 21 

then we're looking at three ---.  You understand where 22 

I'm going with this? Can we get --- are we approaching 23 

that point?  What's going to happen if we get to that 24 

point? 25 
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  MR. BRETT: 1 

  I don't have any specific facts except 2 

for what I heard earlier from the gentleman from 3 

Rodale Press to say that the demand for organic 4 

products is going up 20 percent, but the conversion to 5 

organic agriculture is only three.  So I would --- I 6 

would infer from that that we've got a ways to go.  I 7 

think it's a good question.  You know, I don't know if 8 

it's going to happen.  You know, I don't --- I mean, I 9 

think we're a long way.  I know that people involved 10 

with the organic dairy, they just can't get enough 11 

people converted fast enough to supply the demand.   12 

  So for all the benefits that have been 13 

stated here today as far as what happens with the 14 

conversation from the benefit for the farmer for 15 

better income, for the ecological piece, it benefits 16 

the carbon piece and benefit --- it would be a problem 17 

that would be nice to see arrive, but I don't know if 18 

it will.  But it's a good question. 19 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 20 

  You don't see any problem in the near 21 

future? 22 

  MR. BRETT: 23 

  I do not see any problem in the near 24 

future.  I wish more of the big supermarkets and what 25 
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not would be committed to buying local so that they 1 

could buy local Pennsylvania.  They are involved, but 2 

if they're ---- you know, if they have their corporate 3 

headquarters some place outside the state, you 4 

oftentimes don't have that much of a commitment to it. 5 

And we do have an incredible diversity of organic 6 

production in, you know, eastern Pennsylvania, that I 7 

know for sure.  And actually, a lot of it is exported 8 

up and down the east coast.  And I think the majority 9 

of it comes from Lancaster County. 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 11 

  Okay.  Maybe your stores will give those 12 

big box stores a run for their money someday. 13 

  MR. BRETT: 14 

  Well, somebody else will be in charge of 15 

this. 16 

  REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: 17 

  Thank you. 18 

  MR. BRETT: 19 

  I'll be producing. 20 

  CHAIRMAN: 21 

  Representative Keller, I wanted to share 22 

with you that we --- I'm advised that we do expect 23 

written testimony from Penn State University as part 24 

of this process, and the administration is represented 25 
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here today and we'll certainly be bringing them into 1 

the discussion of the legislation a little more fully. 2 

I think they're probably like the rest of us, getting 3 

an education on the legislation.  And I think that 4 

concludes --- unless, Dave, do you have any questions 5 

for Mr. Brett? 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 7 

  No. 8 

  CHAIRMAN: 9 

  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Brett.   10 

  Next we have Joel Rotz of the 11 

Pennsylvania Farm Bureau.  Joel? 12 

  MR. ROTZ: 13 

  Thank you.  And my testimony is not real 14 

long, and I'm going to try to make it even shorter. 15 

  Just a couple comments off the top.  I 16 

mean, you all know the Farm Bureau and you know me.  I 17 

don't need to go through that diatribe about who we 18 

represent, but I would emphasize that we do represent 19 

all commodities, all types of farming, two acres to 20 

2,000 acres, all types of marketers.  21 

  And I guess I'll just make one editorial 22 

comment.  I really have a problem with the world 23 

conventional.  We know what organic is.  We know what 24 

certified organic is, at least Leslie knows for sure. 25 
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And so when we say conventional, I'm not sure what 1 

we're saying because we have everything from the not-2 

so-environmentally compliant or friendly Moldboard 3 

plow to very environmentally sound conventional 4 

practices. And the other things with those two 5 

categories, it always brings up the old feelings among 6 

farmers for whatever reason, you know, that somehow 7 

it's us against them when it comes to conventional or 8 

organic.  And there's really no reason or need for 9 

that. 10 

  You heard the enthusiasm of the farmers 11 

up here a while ago and you all know I used to farm.  12 

And I was feeling it.  You know, if I was back on the 13 

farm, I'd be putting down cover crops and getting that 14 

crimper/roller because I think there's a lot of merit 15 

there.  And guess what, you don't have to be an 16 

organic farmer to do that.  And it's still a big 17 

benefit, I believe, to not only the environment, but 18 

to the farmers’ bottom line.  And I think that's what 19 

we need to be emphasizing when we look at some of 20 

these best management practices. 21 

  I do want to point out one of my main 22 

points is --- and I know Leslie, I thought, did a real 23 

good job with some of the constructive criticisms and 24 

where we might already have overlap and have ways of 25 
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doing some of the things you want to do, 1 

Representative Kessler.   2 

  Certainly, the Sustainable Agriculture 3 

Act of 1994 --- and if you're not familiar with it, I 4 

have a photocopy of it here I'd be happy to give you. 5 

We believe --- our legal counsel that might of what 6 

you're trying to do in your legislation could already 7 

be done under this act.  I will be the first to admit 8 

that this act's never been funded, never properly 9 

funded.  So that's an issue.  It takes money.  And the 10 

question comes up why hasn't it been funded, and I 11 

think you all understand the budget process enough to 12 

know that it comes down to priorities and this is not 13 

the main priority. 14 

  And perhaps one of the reason it's not 15 

the main priority is that what is our priorities, at 16 

least for Farm Bureau, our programs that reach out to 17 

all farmers, conventional or organic.  We've already  18 

--- you know, I heard some farmers up here saying, 19 

gee, I wish I could get cost-share for my roller.  And 20 

as it's already been pointed out, they can.  They can 21 

under existing programs.  And I think Leslie touched 22 

on a lot of programs that are already out there that 23 

can be taken advantage of, and I won't re-emphasize 24 

those.  But certainly take a look at the Sustainable 25 
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Agriculture Act. 1 

  Obviously, this would not cover your idea 2 

of having transition payments.  And when you look at 3 

the transition payments, you know, one would have to 4 

speculate that you are talking about significant 5 

amounts of money and the question becomes where does 6 

that money come from.  And I've already talked about 7 

the priorities we already have.   8 

  You know, I stood at the capitol 9 

yesterday and hopefully you're aware of it.  A strange 10 

bunch of groups got together yesterday and cried out 11 

to the legislature and the governor that, you know, we 12 

got big issues in water quality to face here coming 13 

both from point source and non-point.  We stood there 14 

and asked for $170 million a year for the next five 15 

years, and $70 million of that being for ag-related 16 

programs. And I certainly see if something like that 17 

was fully funded, you know, our organic farmers and 18 

folks that are using these good sound environmental 19 

practices would have lots of opportunity to take 20 

advantage of expanded REAP funding and other cost-21 

shares that we would create with that kind of a 22 

program.  So that's where our priorities are when it 23 

comes to spending the money.   24 

  I do want to point out that some of the 25 
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other states have been mentioned, and I think Leslie 1 

touched on this, but I didn't hear her cover some of 2 

the specifics that I had gotten, when I contacted the 3 

Minnesota Department of Agriculture.  All they really 4 

have is a state program. This is aside from the NRCS 5 

Program that's already been discussed.  Their state 6 

program, of course, does not address the transition-7 

type payments as I understand it, and their fund is 8 

very limited.  It's $85,000.  It's for cost-sharing up 9 

to two thirds of the cost of licensing, inspection 10 

fees, soil tests and water tests that might be 11 

required.  There's another $15,000 to administer the 12 

program.  And even with that $85,000, there's a $350 13 

cap per producer.  And I was told by Meg Moynihan 14 

(phonetic) who administers the program that it's still 15 

woefully inadequate.  They can't even make the $350 16 

cap, so the producers are only getting about 60 17 

percent of that $350. 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 19 

  I can share the information that I have 20 

with you on the Minnesota program because it’s 21 

actually they pay a certain amount of dollars per acre 22 

for a farm. 23 

  MR. ROTZ: 24 

  That's through NRCS I believe you'll 25 
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find.  That's not state funds. That's what I was told. 1 

You're talking about the NRCS monies, which ---. 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 3 

  Which goes to the state; is that correct? 4 

  MR. ROTZ: 5 

  Correct.  Yeah.  Minnesota State has 6 

decided to make that a priority for their NRCS 7 

funding. 8 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 9 

  From the NRCS funding. 10 

  MR. ROTZ: 11 

  Right.  That’s certainly an option for 12 

Pennsylvania.  And I'm not sure a lot of that's not 13 

already available in Pennsylvania.  I think maybe 14 

Leslie knows better than I on that. 15 

  Wisconsin's got a more substantially 16 

funded program of $400,000, but it essentially covers 17 

the same types of things as Minnesota, as I understand 18 

it.  And it's just their first year, so they really 19 

don't know if they have enough money or not.   20 

  I think the point’s already been made 21 

about what we can do through NRCS.  And I just want to 22 

point out --- I think I already alluded to it, my own 23 

enthusiasm for some of things we've heard about today 24 

and I saw first hand at your invitation and went down 25 
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to Rodale.  And again, the point I want to emphasize 1 

is gee, these are exciting practices that conventional 2 

farmers, whatever that means --- not organic farmers, 3 

could also implement.  And I think it's a given that 4 

if a farmer implements these practices, sees the value 5 

in it and realizes he has reduced his need for 6 

pesticides and herbicides and chemical fertilizers and 7 

sees it's not that big of a leap to go organic and if 8 

the market's there, the economic incentive to do that 9 

is there, then the farmer's going to do it.  And I 10 

think that's your incentive, to incentivize those 11 

kinds of practices. 12 

  We've already talked about REAP and how 13 

you can already cost-share equipment such as no-till 14 

planters and a crimper/roller through that program.  15 

And we're really hoping we can expand that program.   16 

  I think that pretty well covers it.  You 17 

know, the conclusions there in front of me just to 18 

highlight the same points I think I've already made.  19 

So I hope that shortened it up enough that Brian has 20 

some time and he can get out of here.  Any questions? 21 

  CHAIRMAN: 22 

  Thank you, Joel.  That was very condensed 23 

and very informative.  Representative Kessler, any 24 

questions? 25 
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  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 1 

  Just a comment as far as Minnesota.  I 2 

mean, even though it's federal money, it's the state 3 

that took that money.  I mean, it's their money and 4 

then they in turn set it aside.  So I think you need 5 

to combine the dollar amount --- dollars that they set 6 

aside combined between the state money and the federal 7 

money. 8 

  MR. ROTZ: 9 

  My understanding --- and if I'm wrong, 10 

I'll be glad to be corrected by Leslie or somebody 11 

that knows better, but my understanding in my 12 

conversations were that the State of Minnesota --- 13 

every state, I guess, has some discretion in how they 14 

use these NRCS funds.  And the State of Minnesota 15 

determined that some of their funds would go towards 16 

the types of things that Leslie talked about earlier.  17 

  And I do know that currently --- and I 18 

think Leslie touched on it --- currently Pennsylvania 19 

in NRCS programs there are a lot of things out there 20 

that you can take advantage of, although it may not be 21 

directly.  It'd be the same things that are available 22 

to conventional farmers, but somebody changing to 23 

organic could really take advantage of in the process 24 

of doing that. 25 
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  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 1 

  Okay.  Thank you. 2 

  CHAIRMAN: 3 

  Joel, are there other identified best 4 

management practices that --- I mean, it seems that 5 

with organic, we have pretty much defined that there's 6 

a three-year transition period.  Are there other --- 7 

are there similar best management practices that would 8 

not necessarily lead to a certified organic farming 9 

that have a similar time line where there's a 10 

transition cost and maybe loss of yield that maybe 11 

should be looked at as well as part of providing a 12 

cost or help --- financial incentive to make those 13 

kind of transitions? 14 

  MR. ROTZ: 15 

  I don't think so.  I mean, the bottom 16 

line is farmers are going to do what's going to bring 17 

the economic return, and so I think farmers are going 18 

to see the value if they --- if they see what some of 19 

their neighbors are doing with technology like the 20 

roller/crimper --- certainly cover crops is something 21 

that we're all pushing harder and harder for the 22 

environmental compliance we need to meet clean water 23 

goals.  You know, I think once farmers see the value 24 

in that --- experience the value in that, they're just 25 
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going to want to do it.  They'll see the payback 1 

immediately.  The unfortunate thing with organic is 2 

you do have this certified process that takes three 3 

years to convert to, and in the meantime you're 4 

getting the price that you were getting for your 5 

conventional until you get the price of the organic.  6 

And I understand that's what Representative Kessler is 7 

trying to address.  I just think it would involve a 8 

whole lot of money that I'm not sure where it would 9 

come from.  And we've already got so many inquires 10 

that they're unfunded.  If were properly funded, we 11 

could even take better advantage of as all farmers, 12 

organic or conventional. 13 

  CHAIRMAN: 14 

  Thank you.  Any other questions for the 15 

Farm Bureau? 16 

  MR. ROTZ: 17 

  Hey, thank you for your time. 18 

  CHAIRMAN: 19 

  Thank you.  All right.  Brian Snyder, 20 

Executive Director of the Pennsylvania Association for 21 

Sustainable Agriculture.  Brian, welcome.   22 

  And before you start, can you give me an 23 

idea of how long it took you to drive here since I 24 

think that's how far I got to drive to go to my ---. 25 
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  MR. SNYDER: 1 

  Longer than the guy from Maryland.  If 2 

you have the right directions, you might be able to 3 

get there in under three hours, two and a half. 4 

  So anyway, I want to start out by letting 5 

the record --- I want to ask the record to show that 6 

PASA expresses our appreciation to the Farm Bureau for 7 

supporting the funding of the Sustainable Ag Act 8 

because that's been --- you know, that's been around. 9 

Our organization was active in getting that passed 10 

back in 1994, and it would be good to take a look at 11 

that and pull it off the shelf and see if there's some 12 

way that it could even be amended to be used in this 13 

circumstance. 14 

  Obviously, I have to count on the fact 15 

that most of the members of the committee are going to 16 

read the testimony that I handed in, so I'm not going 17 

to try to cover everything here, just try to get right 18 

down to the brass tacks.  I think that what we're 19 

looking at doing here is in some ways overdue.  But I 20 

have some criticisms as well, like Leslie did. 21 

  But let me get to the overdue part very 22 

quickly and say that, you know, The Rodale Institute 23 

has been here 60 years? 24 

  MR. MOYER: 25 
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  Yes, sir. 1 

  MR. SNYDER: 2 

  And the Rodale family and The Rodale 3 

Institute has been --- they have been international 4 

leaders in even defining what organic means.  I mean, 5 

that's almost --- you can almost say it's a 6 

Pennsylvania concept.  And Walnut Acres is a very, 7 

very well-known founder of the idea of organic as 8 

well.  That’s from Penns Creek right here in 9 

Pennsylvania.  And I think I'm correct in saying that 10 

Pennsylvania Certified Organic was even the very first 11 

federally-approved certifier in the country.  So in 12 

many ways, we have led the way.  This has been 13 

Pennsylvania's issue and now we're talking about 14 

catching up.  So, you know, it's a shame when we were 15 

leading the way, that we now have to talk about 16 

catching up.  But let's get on with it, you know.  17 

Let's get caught up. 18 

  So I'm going to organize --- since I 19 

think it's most useful to just kind of talk about the 20 

things that I would improve in the legislation and let 21 

all the praise for the legislation --- you know, you 22 

can read that yourselves. 23 

  In talking about the task force, I think 24 

--- I think it may be a little too narrowly defined in 25 
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the draft legislation.  I think it's over-prescribed 1 

to say that, you know, one of these and one of those. 2 

 I think its scope or its mission in terms of looking 3 

only at organic certification is probably a little too 4 

narrow.  So I would look at expanding the membership. 5 

I mean, what does it hurt to let anybody that wants to 6 

be represented on that group come.  That's the way the 7 

state's dairy task force is run, for instance.  I 8 

mean, it's very broad in its representation, and 9 

usually only half the people can come.  So you know, I 10 

don't think it really hurts to have a larger 11 

representation. 12 

  In terms of scope, I've been asked to 13 

speak here, and I, you know, represent sustainable 14 

agriculture and just say that that is a broader group 15 

of folks, and in answer the question that you asked 16 

the Farm Bureau, sure, there are other practices that 17 

are being implemented here in Pennsylvania and 18 

elsewhere that take a transition period and could use 19 

the same kind of thought and benefit.   20 

  Some examples are intensive grazing, a 21 

very, very powerful model for doing any kind of 22 

farming with beef, dairy, small ruminants, which are 23 

goats and sheep.  You know, this is a model of farming 24 

that crosses the boundaries of conventional and 25 
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organic and is even more powerful today with the cost 1 

of feed rising the way it is and the cost of fuel.  2 

And there are many dairy farmers, for instance, in 3 

Pennsylvania that are doing intensive grazing who are 4 

not certified organic, and they can tell you that that 5 

practice saved their farm and brought the next 6 

generation back in just as --- as organic has done for 7 

Bucky in a very nice way. 8 

  Other examples would be direct marketing, 9 

which takes a transition period.  I like to use the 10 

example of CSAs, which maybe you're familiar with, is 11 

community supported agriculture.  And this is an 12 

arrangement where customers actually pay for a share 13 

of the crop up front at the beginning of the season, 14 

and then the farmer uses that as his financing to be 15 

able to plant the crop and hire workers and to be able 16 

to produce the crop, which then returns to the 17 

customer in one basket a week of healthy, wholesome 18 

food, which often is raised organically.  In fact, 19 

usually is in a CSA, even if they don't get certified.  20 

  So there's many organic farms that are 21 

not getting certified because they don't need to 22 

because their customers come to the farm and they see 23 

the quality and they keep coming back because they 24 

appreciate what the farmer's doing. 25 
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  Just to give you an idea of the power of 1 

that model, we have four members that have over a 2 

thousand families that have joined their CSAs.  Now, 3 

on average CSA shares run about $500.  So you know, do 4 

the math. That's a half million dollars before you 5 

plant.  And guess what, you put it in the bank and you 6 

earn interest all year.  You're not paying interest to 7 

the bank by taking out a loan in order to buy seed.  8 

That's a very, very powerful model.   9 

  One of these thousand-member-plus CSAs 10 

that we work with, and it is organic, they --- 11 

basically most of their produce comes from 20 acres 12 

only.  So you take 20 very productive acres and 13 

establish a model where you could bring in a half 14 

million dollars before you plant.  Yes, there's some 15 

other models that might be worth looking at in 16 

addition to the organic because the organic is very 17 

much a part of the whole sustainable farming movement, 18 

but so is the intensive grazing, so is direct 19 

marketing of all kinds including to stores like 20 

Kimberton Whole Foods. 21 

  So I think we need to look at the charge 22 

to that task force.  If we call it a sustainable 23 

farming task force and aligned it with the current 24 

bill, the 1994 Act, then we could have a broader group 25 
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of people represented there. 1 

  In terms of the payments to farmers, I'll 2 

just add that I agreed with what Leslie said, and that 3 

is that I think it's very complicated to try to 4 

calculate the loss on a farm.  And it's not that that 5 

isn't a real thing or something that really needs to 6 

be responded to, but you're going to turn some farmers 7 

away from the program just because it's a complicated 8 

matter to be able to demonstrate that I lost so much 9 

over this period of time particularly when you're 10 

changing crops because all organic farmers do rotate 11 

their crops.  So you're always going to be comparing 12 

apples to oranges in some respect. 13 

  The other idea that I'll throw in here 14 

that hasn't been mentioned today is that a really good 15 

way to think about financially rewarding farmers for 16 

transitioning to organic or any other best management 17 

practice is to think about using tax credits that 18 

could be used in the future.  So if a farmer that was 19 

transitioning to organic was earning tax credits 20 

during the time of the transition, then those could be 21 

used against future profits and you've already got 22 

your regulation built into it because they would have 23 

to have achieved certification in order to be eligible 24 

and they have to maintain certification in order to 25 
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use the credits in the future.  So there's no 1 

regulation problem.  If they're using them, then 2 

they're meeting your expectations.  And you know, 3 

maybe those could be spread out over five years or ten 4 

years so that you also have a built-in incentive that 5 

if they need to farm this way for ten years to use all 6 

the credits, that they'll stay farming that way for 7 

ten years.   8 

  So I think that that's something to look 9 

at.  In general, I like the idea of compensating 10 

farmers per acre or per animal.  Since I'm very 11 

partial and spend a lot of time on dairy issues, I 12 

like to think about per animal there.   13 

  But really, when we think about organic 14 

production, we think about the number of acres that 15 

have been transitioned and that's really our goal is 16 

to transition more acres in Pennsylvania and across 17 

the country for all the reasons that have been 18 

mentioned, you know, whether you're talking about 19 

global warming or water quality or whatever. 20 

  So those are my major recommendations.  21 

You know, farmers in general that we work with are not 22 

--- and I always have to explain this.  I explained 23 

this to Chairman Hanna when he visited us a few months 24 

ago.  Folks don't understand when we're not coming 25 
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asking for money.  You know, our farmers are not 1 

looking for a lot of money.  They'll take it if it's 2 

available, and I think that we could speed up the 3 

transition process, especially for farmers that have 4 

not considered it, by making financial rewards 5 

available.  But I'll agree with Mr. Rotz that the 6 

reward itself is the healthier lifestyle, the happier 7 

customers and the higher income that will come in the 8 

future if farmers do the right thing and transition to 9 

the kinds of best management practices that we 10 

represent. 11 

  So I'll just conclude by saying, you 12 

know, Pennsylvania has a tremendous opportunity.  We 13 

should be the breadbasket of the east.  We absolutely 14 

should be.  We are surrounded by the major 15 

metropolitan areas of this country that are demanding 16 

higher quality food.  We're here.  Why aren't we doing 17 

more to supply that through stores like Kimberton 18 

Whole Foods and many other ways?   19 

  But not only should Pennsylvania be the 20 

breadbasket of the east, I maintain that California 21 

should be called the Pennsylvania of the west.  So 22 

that --- we'll know we reached our goal when they call 23 

California the Pennsylvania of the west.  Okay.   24 

  So I'm very happy to be here and to 25 
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comment.  I really, really hope that you take the 1 

feedback here today and make this better bill and look 2 

at ways to couple it with other programs. This is 3 

terribly important.   4 

  You're to be commended for even opening 5 

the conversation and getting the ball rolling because 6 

I think this must be an historic occasion to be having 7 

this kind of a conversation with the ag committee of 8 

the Pennsylvania Legislature.  So thank you very much. 9 

  CHAIRMAN: 10 

  Thank you, Brian.  We certainly 11 

appreciate your testimony, and Representative Kessler 12 

and myself and others will take your input and 13 

consider it as we look at the piece of legislation. 14 

Dave, any questions for Brian? 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 16 

  I just have a couple questions.  The 17 

Sustainable Agriculture Act of '94, when was that last 18 

funded?  Do you know when that was funded? 19 

  MR. SNYDER: 20 

  I don't think it was ever funded. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 22 

  No? 23 

  MR. SNYDER: 24 

  It was for show as far as I've been told. 25 
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So you know, hopefully this isn't the same kind of 1 

thing. 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 3 

  What did it entail as far as chemicals 4 

and pesticides?  I mean, was there a certain --- only 5 

a certain percentage that you could put on or use only 6 

on a certain portion of the farm, or how did that 7 

work? 8 

  MR. SNYDER: 9 

  You could easily confuse the term 10 

sustainable and organic.  They are confused all the 11 

time, but we --- but, you know, sustainable practices 12 

--- it's a broader category of farming activity.  13 

Certainly what we have in common with organic farming 14 

is that it's a system of constant improvement.  But 15 

many no-till farmers belong to our organization who 16 

use some chemicals. 17 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 18 

  So if there were funds in it, how would 19 

you qualify for it?  What parameters would you have  20 

to set? 21 

  MR. SNYDER: 22 

  I'll say right now that --- that you have 23 

an advantage in wanting to put funds toward certified 24 

organic certification because their standards are much 25 
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more clear.  So there are no standards in terms of 1 

percent, you know, how much chemicals and stuff like 2 

that that you could use for that Act.  Now, there is 3 

such a thing as sustainable certification, and we're 4 

actually going to be working with an organization on 5 

the west coast to bring that to Pennsylvania starting 6 

probably later this year or early next year.  So we 7 

will have a certification system that could be brought 8 

into this whole discussion, but that Act was not done 9 

within a kind of very specific set of certifiable 10 

kinds of standards. 11 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 12 

  Okay.  Thank you. 13 

  CHAIRMAN: 14 

  Well, thank you again, Brian. 15 

  MR. SNYDER: 16 

  Sure.  Thank you.  Thanks for hanging out 17 

until the end. 18 

  CHAIRMAN: 19 

  I'm doing that on your recommendation 20 

that I had enough time to get there, so ---.  That's 21 

one thing about being the main speaker, though, at the 22 

dinner, they're going to have to stay and eat dessert 23 

until I get there if they want to hear me. 24 

  Let me conclude by saying that we 25 
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certainly appreciate everybody who came today and 1 

offered testimony.  It's been very helpful, but I want 2 

to also conclude by thanking Representative Kessler.  3 

I think this is, as Brian said, a long overdue 4 

discussion that's probably somewhat unprecedented, and 5 

I think it's a great opportunity to us to look at 6 

helping agriculture make a transition into some 7 

practices that we --- I think we all see as beneficial 8 

in a lot of ways.  So Representative Kessler, I think 9 

this is a good piece of legislation and I look forward 10 

to working with you to continue to develop it.  Dave, 11 

I'll call on you for any closing comments. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE KESSLER: 13 

  Thank you.  As I stated, of course, the 14 

purpose of the hearing is to get input for a better 15 

bill and make the best bill possible.  And I 16 

appreciate all the input that everybody has given here 17 

today, and we will certainly take that into 18 

consideration on the bill.  Thank you. 19 

  CHAIRMAN: 20 

  All right.  And thanks again to all of 21 

you, and we look forward to working with you further 22 

on this. 23 

***HEARING CONCLUDED AT 4:14 P.M.*** 24 


